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RPM International Inc. is a multinational holding
company with subsidiaries that manufacture and
market high-performance coatings, sealants and
specialty chemicals, primarily for maintenance and
improvement. RPM’s portfolio of leading brands
serves both industrial and consumer markets,
with 60 percent of fiscal 2006 sales to industry
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worldwide and the remaining 40 percent to
consumers, mainly in North America.
Industrial products include roofing systems,
sealants, corrosion control coatings, flooring
coatings, specialty chemicals and recreational
marine coatings. Industrial brands include Tremco,
Stonhard, Carboline, illbruck, Day-Glo, Euco, Dryvit,
Fibergrate and Pettit. RPM’s consumer products
are used by professionals and do-it-yourselfers for
home maintenance and improvement, automotive
repair and maintenance, and by hobbyists.
Consumer brands include Rust-Oleum, DAP,
Zinsser, Varathane, Bondo and Testors.
Shares of the company’s common stock are traded
on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) under
the symbol RPM and are owned by some 300
institutional investors and more than 100,000
individuals. Headquartered in Medina, OH, RPM
employs approximately 9,200 people worldwide
and operates 84 manufacturing facilities in
15 countries. Its products are sold in approximately
150 countries and territories.
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expect

trust

RPM strives to deliver results the right
way through trend-leading corporate
governance, consistent communication,
performance-driven compensation,
active community involvement and
decision-making born of common sense.
Our goal is to be among the very best
companies in corporate governance.
Since 1977, outside directors have
comprised a majority of our Board
Left to right: P. Kelly Tompkins, Paul G. P. Hoogenboom, Frank C.
of Directors, and only independent
Sullivan, Robert L. Matejka, Stephen J. Knoop and Ronald A. Rice
directors have served on the Board’s
Audit and Compensation Committees. These best practices in corporate governance were in place at
RPM nearly three decades before being required by the NYSE. Operating company presidents and chief
financial officers have supplied quarterly certifications of financial statements for more than a decade.
In communication, our objectives are transparency, candor, timeliness, thoroughness and accessibility.
We believe in tackling the challenging issues facing our business directly. For example, we reported
both asbestos and Dryvit lawsuits when they first surfaced and long before they had an impact on our
business. Through our web site (www.rpminc.com), e-mail and direct mailing of press releases and
quarterly reports, we ensure that RPM stockholders are properly and timely informed.
Throughout the organization, incentive pay is tied to specific performance objectives related to growth,
profitability and business goals for both annual operating plans and long-term strategic plans where the
finish line does not change and management is held accountable to adjust to market and competitive
challenges over time. Good strategy is enduring and a strategic plan that is adjusted annually is not
strategic at all.
To closely link corporate and operating company leaders’ interests with stockholders’ interests, RPM
pioneered the concept of performance-earned restricted stock. In this system, restricted shares are earned
by meeting specific goals, and have a “vesting” period that encourages retention of key individuals and
long-term ownership positions by them. The grant dates for all equity awards are set more than one year
in advance, tied to our regular Board meeting calendar, and do not change. This has always been RPM’s
practice; to do otherwise would be nothing short of a theft of stockholder capital.
In our communities, RPM strives to maintain its position as a “neighbor of choice,” not only through
conscientious operation of our facilities, but also through participation in the civic and cultural fabric of
areas where we do business.
The trust of all the constituencies we touch is central to our mission, and we will work to continue to
earn it day in and day out.
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To our associates, customers and stockholders:
In selecting a common thread for RPM’s fiscal 2006
annual report, we arrived at Expectations – the things
our constituents can and should expect from RPM.
Associates of RPM companies have met expectations
for each of the last five years, as we have laid out
internal growth plans and then met them in the face
of many challenges and obstacles. Chief among those
challenges in fiscal 2006 were disruptions caused
by Gulf Coast hurricanes, resulting in dramatic cost
increases and limited availability of raw materials,
directly impacting some RPM operations and affecting
many RPM customers.
Operating Performance Sets Records
Despite these challenges, we achieved on-plan
performance for our 2006 fiscal year, resulting in
record net sales and record net income, prior to
asbestos charges.
For the year, sales increased 18 percent to a record
$3.0 billion from $2.6 billion in fiscal 2005. Following
$380 million in pre-tax asbestos charges, including
the establishment of a $321 million reserve to cover
potential future asbestos liabilities, our net loss for
the year was $76.2 million, or $0.65 per diluted share,
compared to net income of $105.0 million, or $0.86
per diluted share a year ago, which included pre-tax
asbestos charges of $78 million.
Prior to asbestos charges in both years, RPM’s fiscal
2006 net income increased 9 percent to a record
$168.1 million, compared to $154.5 million in fiscal
2005, while diluted earnings per share grew 8 percent
to a record $1.35 over the $1.25 per diluted share
earned a year ago.
Higher raw material prices, brought about by both
the hurricanes and record high oil prices, dampened
our margins through most of the year. While we
implemented price increases to offset higher raw
material costs, there is inherent lag time in realizing
pricing benefits, particularly in our consumer segment.
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By the end of our fiscal year, raw material cost
increases had moderated, and offsetting price increases
had begun to take effect, placing RPM in a position to
strengthen margins in fiscal 2007.
RPM’s industrial businesses posted robust growth in
fiscal 2006, with total sales up 26 percent to $1.8 billion
and EBIT (earnings before interest and taxes) up
21 percent to $202.9 million. Organic sales growth was
13 percent, while acquisition-related growth was
12 percent, reflecting primarily the acquisition of
illbruck Sealant Systems.
Driven by continuing strength in commercial and
industrial markets, virtually all RPM industrial businesses
performed well, including more recently established
growth initiatives such as Tremco’s service business
and firestopping systems, Euclid Chemical’s geographic
expansion and Dryvit’s re-entry into the residential
construction market.
The company’s consumer segment sales grew
7 percent to $1.2 billion, nearly all of which was
organic growth. EBIT grew 8 percent to $159.3 million,
dampened somewhat by higher raw material costs
not fully offset by higher selling prices. Through new
products, product line extensions and continued
marketing emphasis, most of the segment’s major
product lines gained market share in fiscal 2006.
$321 Million Future Asbestos Liability Charge Taken
Following a comprehensive third-party review of our
potential future asbestos-related liabilities, we took a
$321 million non-cash charge against earnings in the
fourth quarter. We believe this reserve will cover such
liabilities for approximately 10 years and make major
strides towards eliminating a cloud that has obscured
our strong fundamental financial performance over the
past few years.
The reserve will be reflected on our balance sheet
and will be drawn down as expenditures are incurred
for indemnity and defense costs in coming years.

Financial Highlights
Year Ended May 31

1

2006

2005

2

2004

(In millions, except per share and percent data)			

Net sales
$ 3,008.3
$2,555.7
$2,307.6
Asbestos charges
$ 380.0
$ 78.0		
Income (loss) before taxes
$ (122.5)
$ 163.7
$ 217.6
Net income (loss)
$ (76.2)
$ 105.0
$ 141.9
Return on sales 		 -2.5%		 4.1%		 6.1%
Return on stockholders’ equity
-7.8%		 10.5%		 15.4%
Diluted earnings (loss) per share
$ (0.65)
$ 0.86
$ 1.16
Cash dividends per share
$
0.63
$ 0.59
$ 0.55
(1) Excluding the impact of the $380.0 million pre-tax ($244.3 million after-tax) asbestos charge, income before income taxes would have been $257.5 million; net income,
$168.1 million; return on sales, 5.6%; return on stockholders’ equity, 17.1% and diluted earnings per share $1.35.
(2) Excluding the impact of the $78.0 million pre-tax ($49.5 million after-tax) asbestos charge, income before taxes would have been $241.7 million; net income,
$154.5 million; return on sales, 6.0%; return on stockholders’ equity, 15.4% and diluted earnings per share $1.25.
See Note H to the Consolidated Financial Statements for discussion. Management believes that the inclusion of this non-GAAP financial data provides investors with additional
insight into pertinent performance measures of the business, and that it should be viewed as supplemental data, rather than as substitutes or alternatives to
GAAP measures of performance.

We urge your review of Note H to Consolidated
Financial Statements beginning on page 48 for full
details of our asbestos liabilities and reserves.
It is possible that we may have to augment the reserve
further in the future. However, we are encouraged by a
number of recent developments, including:
• A significant drop in settlement costs during
fiscal 2006;
• An improving legal environment at the state level;
• Greater judicial and prosecutorial scrutiny of abuses
inherent in this litigation; and
• Our own legal action against our insurance carriers,
which could result in some of our prior and future
costs being covered by insurance.
We anticipate that establishment of this reserve
will allow investors to better focus on our actual
operating results going forward. Most importantly,
the combination of expected declining asbestos costs
and continuing growth of RPM businesses should
significantly strengthen cash flow in coming years.
Acquisition Growth Continues
For decades, RPM has been a leading consolidator in
the coatings industry and has long been considered
the best home for companies in our industry. During
fiscal 2006, we continued this strategy and acquired
businesses that generate nearly $250 million in annual
revenue. These included:
• illbruck Sealant Systems, a $190 million manufacturer
of high-performance sealants and installation systems
for pre-fabricated construction elements and for
window and door applications. Based in Cologne,

Germany, illbruck operates as part of our Tremco
organization, bringing Tremco’s European sales to
$240 million. Acquired on August 31, 2005, illbruck
was neutral to earnings in fiscal 2006 and should
contribute $0.03 to $0.05 to earnings per share in
fiscal 2007.
• Tamms Industries, Inc., a $20 million premier
manufacturer of high-performance restoration,
protection and waterproofing products for various
segments of the concrete construction industry, based
in Kirkland, IL. Acquired on January 11, 2006 by
our Euclid Chemical Company subsidiary, Tamms is
expected to be accretive to earnings within a year of
the acquisition date.
• Three smaller acquisitions, which include: A/D
Fire Protection Systems, a Canadian manufacturer
of specialty architectural fireproofing materials
acquired by our Carboline subsidiary on June 1,
2005; Custom Building Products’ ready-mix patch
and repair product line, which was acquired by our
DAP subsidiary on February 10, 2006 and extends
DAP’s leading market position in patch and repair
products; and the Vandex Group of Companies, a
Swiss concern that provides specialty products for
waterproofing, concrete protection and repair, and
now operates as part of our RPM II Group since its
acquisition on May 12, 2006.
Our total debt-to-capital ratio of 49 percent at yearend is well within our historic range and gives us the
financial flexibility to continue to pursue both large and
small acquisitions through the course of the next fiscal
year and beyond. In addition to the 2006 acquisitions,
we sold our non-core $15 million Thibaut Inc.
wallcovering business to its management and a private
equity firm on January 11, 2006.
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Continuing our acquisition growth in the new fiscal
year, RPM’s Rust-Oleum subsidiary acquired the
Watco Group on July 25, 2006. Based in Godalming,
United Kingdom, Watco has an 80-year history as a
manufacturer and marketer of industrial coatings, and
is a leading supplier of concrete floor coatings in the
UK. With $20 million in annual sales, Watco is expected
to be accretive to earnings within one year. We are
pleased to welcome the Watco team to the RPM family
of companies.
Expectations Set
Fiscal 2006 capped a five-year period during which
RPM stockholders received an average annual
compounded rate of return of 22 percent, including
stock price appreciation and cash dividends. We
outperformed both our peer group and the S&P 500,
which averaged an annual compounded rate of return
of 10 percent and 2 percent, respectively, over the
same period.
We expect to continue to build on our track record of
growth and performance. What should you expect from
your investment in RPM?
• Expect us to grow every year. To do so, we will
harness the financial capital provided by our investors
and the human capital provided by our associates
to find new and better ways to serve our customers,

develop ideas for new products and new markets,
and identify potential new businesses to add to the
RPM family.
• Expect a bottom-line focus that enables revenue
growth to translate into higher profitability, stronger
cash flow and an increasing cash dividend. The
cash dividend, which now yields approximately
3.5 percent, has long been an important part of
total return to RPM stockholders. The compounding
benefit of a growing dividend provides an annual
return on original investment of approximately
7 percent for five-year stockholders and 20 percent
for 20-year stockholders.
• Expect asbestos litigation to have less impact on our
market valuation. To be sure, the asbestos issue has
had a mitigating effect on stock market recognition
of the consistent growth and performance of our
business. As we look ahead, instances of asbestos
disease are projected to decline, the fraud inherent in
this gross abuse of our legal system will continue to
be uncovered, and state and federal tort reform will
begin to address this abuse. As a result, the cloud of
asbestos should clear over time and this issue will
have less impact on cash flow and become less of a
management distraction, resulting in our underlying
performance and related value being better reflected
in RPM’s stock price.

Solid Financial Performance
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expect

– Carboline Takes On Hurricane Rita

Gulf Coast hurricanes in September 2005 disrupted many RPM operations, but nowhere was the impact more severe than at
Carboline’s Lake Charles, LA facility, its primary plant.
The plant was evacuated, along with the entire Lake Charles area, on September 22. On
Saturday morning, September 24, Hurricane Rita made landfall and headed directly towards
Lake Charles. Damage throughout Southwest Louisiana was considerable, and the area had
no electricity or running water.
Less than 24 hours later, a team from Carboline headquarters in St. Louis, under the takecharge leadership of President Dick Wilson, arrived at the plant to assess the damage and
begin repairs. They were joined in the effort by several Carboline Gulf-area sales personnel.
Sleeping on floors, with no bathing facilities, the on-site crew was assisted by other RPM
operating companies and the corporate office in the rebuilding process. A Tremco roofing crew
provided emergency roof repairs.
Five days after the storm hit, the first group of coatings containers was filled from existing
production, and a day after that, new production began. By Monday, October 3, just
nine days after the storm, two shift operations were started, and the full staff returned to
work a week later. Carboline customers experienced only minimal disruption of service,
emblematic of RPM’s operating company leadership and commitment to customers.
Thanks to Carboline’s strong leadership and dedicated employees, the Carboline facility
was the first among numerous chemical and petrochemical plants located in the area to
resume operations. Carboline is an excellent example of the dedication and commitment
present throughout RPM.

• Expect us to continue to set ambitious goals. In 2002,
we set expectations that in the ensuing five years, we
would increase sales by 70 percent to $3.350 billion
and double net income to approximately
$200 million by delivering above-industry-average
internal growth, supplemented with the continued
pursuit of appropriate acquisitions. Our fiscal 2007
plan projects sales growth of 8 to 10 percent, and net
income growth of approximately 10 to 12 percent,
which would leave us just shy of the aggressive
targets established more than four years ago.
Throughout our history, RPM associates have
demonstrated the competency, commitment and
discipline of setting goals and meeting them. As my
grandfather often said, “the harder I work, the luckier
I get.” Perhaps with the hard work so typical of RPM
employees worldwide, we will incur a little of the
“earned luck” that has been part of our past success
and in the process achieve our original five year plan,
despite the tremendous unanticipated asbestos and raw
material challenges we have faced along the way.
At RPM, we enjoy the challenge of setting expectations
and then meeting them. While some of these
expectations invariably are limited to specific periods
of time, there are certain timeless expectations on

which we consistently deliver: expect trust – generating
results the right way for associates, customers and
stockholders; expect growth – the people of RPM have
delivered it year after year; expect passion – the value
of 168, an appreciation of the time we are given, is
the key to accomplishing our goals; expect gratitude
– to the providers of both financial and human capital,
who allow us to serve our customers in a manner
that increases stockholder value and creates associate
opportunity each and every year.
In closing, I would like to thank RPM associates for
their investment of time and talent in our growth and
success, our customers for the business we do and the
partnerships we enjoy, and our stockholders for their
continuing faith in RPM.
Sincerely

Frank C. Sullivan
President and Chief Executive Officer
August 24, 2006
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Dryvit’s successful re-entry into the residential market
contributed to strong sales gains in fiscal 2006.

Tremco sealants were used extensively in the new
Al Murooj complex in Dubai, U.A.E.

Stonhard’s Stonblend RTZ polymer flooring finds wide
acceptance in schools, hospitals, museums, arenas and
retail spaces.

industrial

6

SIDE Winder caulk from DAP is a polymer
sealant developed specifically for all types
of siding and windows.

Rust-Oleum’s line of specialty paints makes
decorating a child’s room child’s play.

PERMA-WHITE Mold & Mildew Proof
Interior Paint from Zinsser keeps bathrooms
and kitchens looking like new.

consumer

expect

balance

industrial

consumer

Balance is a hallmark of RPM in many ways:
• Expect balance between industrial and consumer businesses. Fiscal 2006 sales were 60 percent
industrial and 40 percent consumer, reflecting a continuation of the deliberate balance between these
two broad markets that has characterized RPM for many years. Over time, this balance has proven
beneficial to RPM stockholders as limited growth in one segment is offset by more rapid growth
in the other due to macroeconomic conditions. When the overall economy is robust, the industrial
segment tends to perform better as businesses expand, while in periods of slower economic growth,
the consumer segment benefits from homeowners’ inclinations to stay in their homes and remodel,
rather than incur the larger expense of changing residences.
• Expect balance between organic growth and growth through acquisitions. During the past 10 years,
sales have grown at a compounded annual rate of 10.3 percent, with 5.2 percent representing organic
growth and 5.1 percent coming from acquisitions. We have successfully pursued this two-pronged
growth strategy for more than 30 years.
• Expect stockholder returns to be balanced between stock price appreciation driven by RPM’s
consistent growth and dividend increases supported by our strong cash flow. This balance has
provided RPM stockholders with a 22 percent annual compounded rate of return over the past five
years, far exceeding the performance of the S&P 500 and our peer group over the same time.
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industrial segment
RPM’s industrial segment
is made up broadly of two
types of businesses: those
with leading brands, but
relatively small market
share of huge fragmented
markets; and companies
with a large market share
in specialty niche markets.
Leading brands serving
multi-billion dollar global
markets include Tremco
roofing systems, Stonhard
polymer flooring systems,
Carboline corrosion control
coatings, Tremco and
illbruck sealants, and Euclid
construction chemicals.
Examples of the leading
brands in niche markets
include Dryvit EIFS, Day-Glo

expect
fluorescent pigments, and
Pettit and Woolsey/Z-Spar
recreational marine coatings.
Growth opportunities for
this group typically involve
driving the expansion of
their overall niche market
and growing into new
market areas.
RPM Teams Up on World’s Largest Aquarium
Several RPM industrial businesses participated
in construction of the Georgia Aquarium, the
largest such venue in the world, which opened in
November 2005. The project was conceived and
largely financed by Bernie Marcus, co-founder of
The Home Depot, the largest customer for RPM’s
consumer segment. RPM businesses participating
in the $290 million project included Dryvit Systems
and its Triarch Division, Carboline, Tremco,
Stonhard and Zinsser. The 500,000-square-foot
facility in Atlanta is home to more than 100,000
fish and other aquatic animals.
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growth in services
Tremco’s service business, Weatherproofing Technologies,
Inc. (below), provides total roof maintenance and
related services to customers where roof reliability is
critical, such as hospitals, schools, libraries and industrial
facilities. The business has grown from $15 million to
$150 million in sales since 1999.

thoughtful acquisitions
RPM evaluated dozens of acquisition prospects in fiscal 2006 in
arriving at its final choices of Tamms, Vandex, A/D Fire Protection
Systems and illbruck in the industrial segment. From its base in
Switzerland, Vandex provides waterproofing solutions for water and
sewage treatment plants, civil engineering projects and commercial
construction in Western Europe and Asia. Its products were used in
sensitive waterproofing applications at the New Alexandria Library in
Egypt (above).

innovation
RPM’s Fibergrate subsidiary is an
innovator in fiberglass industrial
grating (left), gaining significant
sales increases from high-loadcapacity grating and operating
income increases from new
cost-saving resin technology.

rebuilding
RPM’s products, both industrial and consumer, are used primarily for maintenance
and repair applications, as opposed to new construction. Gulf Coast hurricanes in
2005, which initially dampened RPM’s second-quarter results, also created high
demand for industrial products used in hurricane rebuilding efforts (below).

international expansion
An RPM goal is to build its European presence to
$500 million in sales over the near-term. The
acquisitions of the $190 million illbruck Sealant
Systems business (above) in August 2005 and the
Vandex Group in May 2006 bring RPM’s European
sales to $480 million on an annualized basis.
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consumer segment
RPM’s consumer businesses
typically have the number
one brand in their categories.
Rust-Oleum has grown
from a single line of rustpreventative paints to the
market leader in small
project paints and coatings
since joining RPM a decade
ago. Its line now includes
general purpose, specialty
and decorative paints in
addition to the original
product. Zinsser is the
leading brand of primersealers for the consumer
market and enjoys a
pre-eminent position with
professional contractors.
It is also the top brand in
wallcovering preparation
and removal, as well as in

expect
mold and mildew prevention
and control. The DAP brand
leads in caulks, sealants
and patch-and-repair
products, while the Testors
brand is a leader in the
hobby and crafts category,
and Bondo is among the
best-known brands in
automotive restoration.

RPM Teams Up on Suburban Kitchen
RPM’s consumer products are typically the market
leaders in their field and are preferred by both
homeowners and professional contractors all
around the home. This kitchen uses Zinsser’s
Perma-White Mold and Mildew-Proof Interior Paint
on the ceiling, DAP color coordinated caulk where
splashboards join the countertops and around
the sink, Rust-Oleum American Accent paints on
decorative items, Zinnser’s B-I-N as the wall primer,
Varathane finish on the floors and Nature-Seal to
keep the sliced apples from discoloring.
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growth in services
Demographic trends, including the aging of “baby boomers,” are
resulting in a partial shift in the DIY (do-it-yourself) market to a DIFY
(do-it-for-you) orientation. This has prompted major home center
retailers to begin offering installation services through approved
contractors. Two years ago, Rust-Oleum partnered with The Home
Depot to offer professional installation of Epoxy Shield garage floor
and basement coatings in the top 28 U.S. markets (below). As it
continues to build sales volume in the U.S., this program was rolled
out to certain Canadian markets in fiscal 2006.

innovation
Leveraging its position as America’s number one manufacturer of small
package paints, Rust-Oleum continues to build on its strength with a host
of new products year after year. During fiscal 2006, Rust-Oleum introduced
a multi-color textured spray paint (above), designed to give older lawn
furniture the look of new decorator finishes; paint for doors and fabrics;
glow in the dark coatings and magnetic wall paint.

thoughtful acquisitions
Synergistic acquisitions of smaller
product lines that can benefit
from RPM consumer businesses’
distribution and marketing systems,
as well as brand awareness, provide
strong growth opportunities aided
by easy integration into an existing
RPM business. Such was the case
in fiscal 2006, when DAP acquired
Custom Building Products’ ready-mix
patch and repair product line (left),
extending DAP’s leading position in
patch and repair products.

category management

product line extensions

For the past several years, Rust-Oleum has fine-tuned
its category management system, which provides
retailers with management services for their entire
small package paint line, including locale-based
forecasting of demand and stocking for specific
products, colors, container sizes and other variables.
With the 2006 integration of Zinsser into Rust-Oleum,
the category management process (below) is now
being applied to the Zinsser line of primer-sealers,
wallcovering preparation and removal products, and
mold and mildew resistant coatings.

In addition to capturing additional market share from competitors, product line extensions
offer opportunities to leverage strong brands and build additional sales volume. For example,
Wolman’s transparent and semi-transparent deck stains are well-respected by contractors
and ranked best by a leading consumer publication. During the past fiscal year, Wolman
introduced DuraStain Solid Color Stain and DecoWhite Decorative Deck and Porch Paint
(above left), building on its strengths in other deck care products. Other examples of line
extensions during the past year include Rust-Oleum’s addition of new colors, tinting and
top coating for its successful Epoxy Shield garage and basement floor coating; Zinsser’s
addition of Perma-Wash Disinfectant & Fungicide Interior Concentrate and Perma-Guard
Mold & Mildew Proof interior and exterior sealers to its established Perma-White Mold &
Mildew Proof interior and exterior paints; the addition of Jomax Roof Cleaner & Mildew
Stain remover to other Jomax products to combat mold and mildew; and DAP’s Premium
Lightweight Joint Compound with the patented DryDex dry time indicator (above right),
which complements the highly successful Dry-Dex Spackling Compound.
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selected financial data
(In thousands, except per share and percent data)

All financial data based on fiscal years ended May 31

20061

20051

2004

RESULTS FROM OPERATIONS

Net sales
Income (loss) before income taxes
Net income (loss)

$3,008,338
(122,475)
(76,205)

$2,555,735
163,728
105,032

$2,307,553
217,616
141,886

Return on sales %
Return on stockholders’ equity %

(2.5)
(7.8)

4.1
10.5

6.1
15.4

PERFORMANCE MEASURES

PER SHARE DATA

Basic earnings (loss) per common share
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share
Cash dividends per share
Stockholders’ equity per share

$

(0.65)
(0.65)
0.6300
7.93

$

0.90
0.86
0.5900
8.88

$

1.23
1.16
0.5500
8.38

Stockholders’ equity
Retained earnings
Working capital
Total assets
Long-term debt

$ 925,941
349,493
655,718
2,980,218
870,415

$1,037,739
500,125
693,656
2,647,475
837,948

$ 970,402
464,026
516,542
2,345,202
718,929

Depreciation and amortization
Average shares outstanding

$

$

$

BALANCE SHEET HIGHLIGHTS

OTHER DATA

74,299
116,837

65,992
116,899

1

Reflects the impact of asbestos charges of $380.0 million pre-tax ($244.3 million after-tax) in fiscal 2006, $78.0 million pre-tax ($49.5 million after-tax) in fiscal 2005
and $140.0 million ($87.5 million after-tax) in fiscal 2003 (See Note H to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

2

Reflects adoption of SFAS No. 142 regarding Goodwill (See Note A [11] to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

Acquisitions made by the Company during the periods presented may impact comparability from year to year (See Note A to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Earnings Before Interest & Taxes for business segments is reconciled to Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes on page 15, for each of the three years ended May 31, 2006.
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63,277
115,777

20031

20022

2001

2000

1999

1998

1997

1996

$2,053,482
47,853
35,327

$1,960,738
154,124
101,554

$1,984,961
101,487
62,961

$1,943,201
71,761
40,992

$1,695,209
159,597
94,546

$1,611,151
149,556
87,837

$1,346,414
135,728
78,315

$1,127,873
119,886
68,929

1.7
4.1

5.2
13.6

3.2
9.8

2.1
5.9

5.6
14.4

5.5
16.6

5.8
16.7

6.1
17.3

$

0.31
0.30
0.5150
7.56

$

0.97
0.97
0.5000
8.22

$

0.62
0.62
0.4975
6.26

$

0.38
0.38
0.4850
6.02

$

0.87
0.86
0.4645
6.83

$

0.89
0.84
0.4400
5.75

$

0.81
0.76
0.4080
5.07

$

0.72
0.69
0.3776
4.68

$ 871,752
385,791
499,838
2,238,199
724,846

$ 858,106
409,603
479,041
2,078,844
707,921

$ 639,710
360,458
443,652
2,078,490
955,399

$ 645,724
348,102
408,890
2,099,203
959,330

$ 742,876
359,011
402,870
1,737,236
582,109

$ 566,337
314,911
387,284
1,685,917
716,989

$ 493,398
270,465
478,535
1,633,228
784,439

$ 445,915
231,896
275,722
1,155,076
447,654

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

58,674
115,294

56,859
104,418

81,494
102,202

79,150
107,221

62,135
108,731

57,009
98,527

51,145
97,285

42,562
95,208

segment charts: consumer
Net Sales
In millions

Earnings Before
Interest & Taxes1

Identifiable
Assets

In millions

In millions

$1200

$160

$1200

150

1100

1100

140
1000

1000

130
120

900

900

110

800

800

100
700

700

90
80

600

600

70

500

500

60
400

400

50
40

300

300

30

200

200

20
100
01 02 03 04 05 06

0

100

10
01 02 03 04 05 06

0

01 02 03 04 05 06

0

RPM International Inc. and Subsidiaries

13

management’s discussion and analysis

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION and ANALYSIS
of RESULTS of OPERATIONS and FINANCIAL CONDITION

SEGMENT INFORMATION
We operate a portfolio of businesses that manufacture and
sell a variety of specialty paints, protective coatings and
roofing systems, sealants and adhesives. We manage our
portfolio by organizing our businesses into two reportable
operating segments – industrial and consumer – based on
the nature of business activities, products and services, the
structure of management and the structure of information
as presented to the Board of Directors. Within each
segment, individual operating companies or groups of
companies generally address common markets, utilize
similar technologies, and can share manufacturing or
distribution capabilities. We evaluate the profit performance
of our segments based on income before income taxes, but
also look to earnings before interest and taxes (“EBIT”) as a
performance evaluation measure because interest expense is
essentially related to corporate acquisitions, as opposed to
segment operations.
Industrial segment products are sold throughout North
America and account for most of our sales in Europe,
South America, Asia, Africa, Australia and the Middle East.
The industrial product line is sold primarily to distributors,
contractors and to end users, such as industrial
manufacturing facilities, educational and governmental
institutions, and commercial establishments. Industrial
segment products reach their markets through a
combination of direct sales, sales representative
organizations, distributor sales and sales of licensees and
joint ventures.
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Consumer segment products are sold throughout North
America to mass merchandisers, home centers, hardware
stores, paint stores, automotive supply stores and craft
shops. Consumer segment products are sold to retailers
through a combination of direct sales, sales representative
organizations and distributor sales.
In addition to two reportable operating segments, there are
certain business activities, referred to as corporate/other,
that do not constitute an operating segment, including
corporate headquarters and related administrative expenses,
results of our captive insurance companies, gains or losses on
the sales of certain assets and other expenses not directly
associated with either operating segment. Related assets
consist primarily of investments, prepaid expenses, deferred
pension assets, and headquarters’ property and equipment.
These corporate and other assets and expenses reconcile
operating segment data to total consolidated net sales,
income before income taxes, identifiable assets, capital
expenditures, and depreciation and amortization.
The following table reflects the results of our reportable
operating segments consistent with our management
philosophy, and represents the information we utilize, in
conjunction with various strategic, operational and other
financial performance criteria, in evaluating the
performance of our portfolio of businesses. For further
information pertaining to our segments, refer to Note I,
“Segment Information,” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION
(In thousands)

Year Ended May 31

2006

2005

2004

Net Sales

Industrial Segment
Consumer Segment

$1,811,590
1,196,748

$1,441,548
1,114,187

$1,272,781
1,034,772

$3,008,338

$2,555,735

$2,307,553

$ 201,230
(1,711)

$ 168,578
532

$ 140,706
192

$ 202,941

$ 168,046

$ 140,514

$ 159,147
(142)

$ 147,601
415

$ 142,852
104

$ 159,289

$ 147,186

$ 142,748

$ (482,852)(c)
(39,490)

$ (152,451)(c)
(36,325)

$

(65,942)
(29,241)

$ (443,362)

$ (116,126)

$

(36,701)

Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes(a)
Interest (Expense), Net

$ (122,475)
(41,343)

$ 163,728
(35,378)

$ 217,616
(28,945)

EBIT(b)

$

$ 199,106

$ 246,561

Consolidated
Income (Loss) Before Income

Taxes(a)

Industrial Segment
Income Before Income Taxes(a)
Interest (Expense), Net
EBIT(b)
Consumer Segment
Income Before Income Taxes(a)
Interest (Expense), Net
EBIT(b)
Corporate/Other
(Loss) Before Income Taxes(a)
Interest (Expense), Net
EBIT(b)
Consolidated

(81,132)

(a) The presentation includes a reconciliation of Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes, a measure defined by Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) in
the United States, to EBIT.
(b) EBIT is defined as earnings (loss) before interest and taxes. We evaluate the profit performance of our segments based on income before income taxes, but
also look to EBIT as a performance evaluation measure because interest expense is essentially related to corporate acquisitions, as opposed to segment
operations. We believe EBIT is useful to investors for this purpose as well, using EBIT as a metric in their investment decisions. EBIT should not be considered
an alternative to, or more meaningful than, operating income as determined in accordance with GAAP, since EBIT omits the impact of interest and taxes in
determining operating performance, which represent items necessary to our continued operations, given our level of indebtedness and ongoing tax
obligations. Nonetheless, EBIT is a key measure expected by and useful to our fixed income investors, rating agencies and the banking community all of
whom believe, and we concur, that this measure is critical to the capital markets’ analysis of our segments’ core operating performance. We also evaluate
EBIT because it is clear that movements in EBIT impact our ability to attract financing. Our underwriters and bankers consistently require inclusion of this
measure in offering memoranda in conjunction with any debt underwriting or bank financing. EBIT may not be indicative of our historical operating results,
nor is it meant to be predictive of potential future results.
(c) The asbestos charges, totaling $380.0 million in fiscal 2006 and $78.0 million in fiscal 2005, reflected in Corporate/Other, relate to our Bondex
International, Inc. subsidiary (See Note H to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
Our Consolidated Financial Statements include the
accounts of RPM International Inc. and its majority-owned
subsidiaries. Preparation of our financial statements requires
the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of our assets and liabilities at the date
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. We
continually evaluate these estimates, including those related
to allowances for doubtful accounts; inventories; allowances
for recoverable taxes; useful lives of property, plant and
equipment; goodwill; environmental and other contingent
liabilities; income tax valuation allowances; pension plans;
and the fair value of financial instruments. We base our
estimates on historical experience and other assumptions,
which we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances.
These estimates form the basis for making judgments about

the carrying value of our assets and liabilities. Actual results
may differ from these estimates under different assumptions
and conditions.
We have identified below the accounting policies that are
critical to our financial statements.
Revenue Recognition
Revenues are recognized when realized or realizable, and
when earned. In general, this is when title and risk of loss
pass to the customer. Further, revenues are generally
realizable when we have persuasive evidence of a sales
arrangement, the product has been shipped or the services
have been provided to the customer, the sales price is fixed
or determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured. We
reduce our revenues for estimated customer returns and
allowances, certain rebates, sales incentives and promotions
in the same period the related sales are recorded.

RPM International Inc. and Subsidiaries
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In general, we account for long-term construction-type
contracts under the percentage-of-completion method, and
therefore record contract revenues and related costs as our
contracts progress. This method recognizes the economic
results of contract performance on a timelier basis than
does the completed-contract method; however, application
of this method requires reasonably dependable estimates
of progress toward completion, as well as other dependable
estimates. When reasonably dependable estimates cannot
be made, or if other factors make estimates doubtful,
the completed-contract method is applied. Under the
completed-contract method, billings and costs are
accumulated on the balance sheet as the contract
progresses, but no revenue is recognized until the contract
is complete or substantially complete.
Translation of Foreign Currency Financial Statements
and Foreign Currency Transactions
Our reporting currency is the U.S. dollar. However, the
functional currency of all of our foreign subsidiaries is their
local currency. We translate the amounts included in our
consolidated statements of income from our foreign
subsidiaries into U.S. dollars at weighted average exchange
rates, which we believe are fairly representative of the
actual exchange rates on the dates of the transactions. Our
foreign subsidiaries’ assets and liabilities are translated into
U.S. dollars from local currency at the actual exchange rates
as of the end of each reporting date, and we record the
resulting foreign exchange translation adjustments in our
consolidated balance sheets as a component of accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss). Translation adjustments
will be included in net earnings in the event of a sale or
liquidation of any of our underlying foreign investments, or
in the event that we distribute the accumulated earnings of
consolidated foreign subsidiaries. If we determined that the
functional currency of any of our foreign subsidiaries should
be the U.S. dollar, our financial statements would be
affected. Should this occur, we would adjust our reporting
to appropriately account for such change(s).
As appropriate, we use permanently invested intercompany
loans as a source of capital to reduce exposure to foreign
currency fluctuations at our foreign subsidiaries. These loans
are treated as analogous to equity for accounting purposes.
Therefore, foreign exchange gains or losses on these
intercompany loans are recorded in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss). If we were to determine that
the functional currency of any of our subsidiaries should be
the U.S. dollar, we would no longer record foreign exchange
gains or losses on such intercompany loans.
Goodwill
We apply the provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 141, “Business
Combinations,” which addresses the initial recognition and
measurement of goodwill and intangible assets acquired in
a business combination. We also apply the provisions of SFAS
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No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” which
requires that goodwill be tested on an annual basis, or more
frequently as impairment indicators arise. We have elected
to perform the required impairment tests, which involve the
use of estimates related to the fair market values of the
business operations with which goodwill is associated,
during our fourth fiscal quarter. Calculating the fair market
value of the reporting units requires significant estimates
and assumptions by management. We estimate the fair
value of our reporting units by applying third-party market
value indicators to the respective reporting unit’s annual
projected earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization. In applying this methodology, we rely on a
number of factors, including future business plans, actual
operating results and market data. In the event that our
calculations indicate that goodwill is impaired, a fair value
estimate of each tangible and intangible asset and liability
would be established. This process would require the
application of discounted cash flows expected to be
generated by each asset in addition to independent asset
appraisals, as appropriate. Cash flow estimates are based on
our historical experience and our internal business plans,
and appropriate discount rates are applied. Losses, if any,
resulting from goodwill impairment tests would be reflected
in operating income in our income statement.
Other Long-Lived Assets
We assess identifiable non-goodwill intangibles and other
long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or
changes in facts and circumstances indicate the possibility
that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Factors
considered important, which might trigger an impairment
evaluation, include the following:
• significant under-performance relative to historical or
projected future operating results;
• significant changes in the manner of our use of the
acquired assets;
• significant changes in the strategy for our overall
business; and
• significant negative industry or economic trends.
Additionally, we test all indefinitely-lived intangible assets
for impairment annually. Measuring a potential impairment
of non-goodwill intangibles and other long-lived assets
requires various estimates and assumptions, including
determining which cash flows are directly related to the
asset being evaluated, the useful life over which those cash
flows will occur, their amount and the asset’s residual value,
if any. If we determine that the carrying value of these
assets may not be recoverable based upon the existence of
one or more of the above-described indicators, any
impairment would be measured based on projected net cash
flows expected from the asset(s), including eventual
disposition. The determination of impairment loss would be
based on the best information available, including internal
discounted cash flows, quoted market prices when available
and independent appraisals as appropriate to determine fair
value. Cash flow estimates would be based on our historical
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experience and our internal business plans, with appropriate
discount rates applied. We have not incurred any such
impairment loss to date.
Deferred Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes is calculated using the
liability method. Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax
effect of temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes and
certain changes in valuation allowances. We provide
valuation allowances against deferred tax assets if, based on
available evidence, it is more likely than not that some
portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
In determining the adequacy of the valuation allowance,
management considers cumulative and anticipated amounts
of domestic and international earnings or losses, anticipated
amounts of foreign source income, as well as the anticipated
taxable income resulting from the reversal of future taxable
temporary differences.
We intend to maintain the recorded valuation allowances
until sufficient positive evidence (for example, cumulative
positive foreign earnings or additional foreign source
income) exists to support a reversal of the tax valuation
allowances.
Contingencies
We are party to claims and lawsuits arising in the normal
course of business, including the various asbestos-related
suits discussed herein and in Note H to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. Although we cannot precisely predict
the amount of any liability that may ultimately arise with
respect to any of these matters, we record provisions when
we consider the liability probable and reasonably estimable.
The provisions are based on historical experience and legal
advice, are reviewed quarterly and are adjusted according
to developments. Estimating probable losses requires
analysis of multiple forecasted factors that often depend
on judgments about potential actions by third parties such
as regulators, courts, and state and federal legislatures.
Changes in the amount of the provisions affect our
consolidated statements of income. Due to the inherent
uncertainties in the loss reserve estimation process, we are
unable to estimate an additional range of loss in excess of
our accruals. We may incur asbestos costs in addition to
any amounts reserved, which may have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition, results of operations or
cash flows.
Our environmental-related accruals are similarly established
and/or adjusted as information becomes available upon
which costs can be reasonably estimated. Here again, actual
costs may vary from these estimates because of the inherent
uncertainties involved, including the identification of new
sites and the development of new information about

contamination. Certain sites are still being investigated and,
therefore, we have been unable to fully evaluate the
ultimate cost for those sites. As a result, reserves have not
been taken for certain of these sites and costs may
ultimately exceed existing reserves for other sites. We have
received indemnities for potential environmental issues from
purchasers of certain of our properties and businesses and
from sellers of some of the properties or businesses we have
acquired. We have also purchased insurance to cover
potential environmental liabilities at certain sites. If the
indemnifying or insuring party fails to, or becomes unable
to, fulfill its obligations under those agreements or policies,
we may incur environmental costs in addition to any
amounts reserved, which may have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition, results of operations or
cash flows.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Fiscal 2006 Compared with Fiscal 2005
Net Sales Consolidated net sales for the year ended May
31, 2006 of $3.008 billion improved 17.7%, or $452.6 million,
over last year’s net sales of $2.556 billion. Contributing to
this improvement over last year was primarily growth in
organic sales of approximately $272.1 million, or 10.7%,
including 3.3% pricing, plus nine acquisitions during the
past two years, net of one small divestiture, resulting in
another 6.9% growth in sales, or $176.9 million. Net
favorable foreign exchange rates, relating primarily to the
Canadian and Latin American currencies, partly offset by
mainly the euro, provided the remaining 0.1%, or
$3.6 million, of the growth in sales over last year.
Industrial segment net sales for fiscal 2006 grew 25.7% to
$1.812 billion from last year’s $1.442 billion, comprising
60.2% of the current year’s consolidated net sales. This
segment’s net sales growth comes primarily from organic
sales growth of 13.1%, including 3.2% pricing, plus
12.4% from illbruck (refer to Note A [4]) and six smaller
acquisitions, with the remaining 0.1% from net favorable
foreign exchange differences. Within the segment, the most
notable growth in organic sales occurred among molded
composite structures, corrosion control coatings,
construction sealants and admixtures, roofing, powder
coatings and exterior insulating finishes. Much of this
demand improvement relates to increased industrial sector
maintenance and improvement activity across North
America, but also in Europe, Latin America, Africa and the
Middle East, as well as increased commercial and industrial
construction. We continue to secure new business and grow
market share among our industrial segment operations.
Consumer segment net sales for the year grew 7.4% to
$1.197 billion from last year’s $1.114 billion, comprising
39.8% of the current year’s consolidated net sales. Growth
in organic sales added 7.5% (3.4% from pricing) to the
consumer segment sales total, plus 0.1% from favorable
foreign exchange differences, offset by 0.2% from a small
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divestiture, net of two small acquisitions. Beginning in
February 2005, our retail merchandising services
arrangements were changed with certain customers,
resulting in a year-over-year reduction in net sales and gross
profit, with a related reduction in selling expenses;
otherwise, organic sales growth this year would have been
8.4%, or 0.9% stronger. There were notable organic sales
increases in this segment among caulks and sealants; primersealers; confectionary, sliced fruit and pharmaceutical glazes;
and small-project paints and coatings. Retail demand by the
consumer remained fairly steady throughout the year,
augmented by continuous product development among
our businesses.
Gross Profit Margin Consolidated gross profit margin of
41.6% of net sales this year declined from 43.3% a year ago.
This margin decline of 1.7%, or 170 basis points (“bps”),
results from several factors, including the higher costs of a
number of our raw and packaging materials, particularly
petrochemical-based, net of higher pricing initiatives
(50 bps), coupled with the inherently lower gross margin
structures of several of our recent acquisitions, particularly
illbruck (60 bps). Numerous price increases have been
initiated throughout the operating segments to help
compensate or recover these higher material costs, many of
which have recently begun to moderate. The additional
gross margin decline resulted from a comparatively lowermargin mix of sales, including increased services sales which
characteristically carry lower gross margins, plus the change
in merchandising services arrangements (20 bps).
Industrial segment gross profit margin for this year declined
to 43.0% of net sales from 44.8% last year. This 180 bps
margin decline mainly relates to the recent acquisitions,
particularly illbruck (110 bps) and a primarily service-driven
lower-margin mix of sales. The productivity gains from this
segment’s 9.9% organic unit sales growth, combined with
pricing initiatives, more than offset raw material cost
increases this year.
Consumer segment gross profit margin for this fiscal year
declined to 39.5% of net sales from 41.3% last year. The
higher raw material costs, net of pricing initiatives, impacted
this segment’s margin by approximately 100 bps, while the
change in merchandising services arrangements had a
negative impact of 50 bps. A partly service-driven lowermargin mix of sales accounted for the difference.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
(“SG&A”) Consolidated SG&A expense levels improved by
80 bps, declining to 31.7% of net sales compared with
32.5% a year ago. The 7.4% organic unit sales growth,
higher pricing initiatives during the past year (90 bps), the
favorable SG&A cost structure of illbruck and other
acquisitions (30 bps), and the change in merchandising
services arrangements (10 bps) primarily drove this expenselevel improvement. This combination of favorable factors
more than offset higher employment-related costs,
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including health care and other benefits, compensation and
incentives, as well as higher fuel-related distribution costs;
warranty claims; legal, audit and environmental, and other
growth-related expenditures and investments, in addition
to the $10.2 million of one-time costs incurred during this
year’s second quarter, comprised primarily of additional
costs associated with the finalization of the Dryvit national
residential class action settlement ($5.0 million) and the loss
on sale of a small non-core subsidiary ($2.7 million), along
with uninsured hurricane-related losses and costs associated
with a European pension plan.
Industrial segment SG&A improved by 140 bps to 31.8%
of net sales this year from 33.2% a year ago, reflecting
principally the leverage benefit from 9.9% organic unit sales
growth, higher pricing (80 bps), the favorable SG&A cost
structure of illbruck and other acquisitions (50 bps), and cost
containment and savings programs collectively more than
offsetting higher employment-related costs, fuel-related
distribution costs, legal costs, and other growth-related
expenditures and investments.
Consumer segment SG&A improved by 190 bps to 26.2%
of net sales this year compared with 28.1% a year ago,
reflecting principally higher pricing effect (90 bps), the
leverage benefit from 5.0% organic unit sales growth, this
segment’s change in merchandising servicing arrangements
(40 bps), and cost containment and savings programs more
than offsetting higher employment-related costs, warranty
claims, certain environmental costs and other growthrelated expenditures and investments.
Corporate/Other SG&A expenses increased during the year
to $63.4 million from $38.1 million during last year,
reflecting primarily the $10.2 million of one-time costs
incurred during this year’s second quarter, outlined
previously, plus $13.5 million toward increased employmentrelated costs, including $7.9 million in higher health care
costs for covered U.S. and Canadian employees and
$1.8 million for additional grants made under the October
2004 Omnibus Equity and Incentive Plan (“Omnibus Plan”).
License fee and joint venture income of approximately
$2.2 million and $0.6 million for the years ended May 31,
2006 and 2005, respectively, are reflected as reductions of
consolidated SG&A expenses.
We recorded total net periodic pension and postretirement
benefit cost of $19.7 million and $16.0 million for the years
ended May 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. This combined
expense increase of $3.7 million was essentially attributable
to increased pension service and interest cost approximating
$3.6 million, in combination with additional net actuarial
losses incurred of $1.0 million, partly offset by improvement
against the expected return on plan assets of $0.9 million.
A change of 0.25% in the discount rate or expected rate
of return on plan assets assumptions would result in
$1.2 million and $0.5 million higher pension expense,
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respectively. The assumptions and estimates used to
determine the discount rate and expected return on plan
assets are more fully described in Note F, “Pension Plans,”
and Note G, “Postretirement Health Care Benefits,” to our
Consolidated Finanical Statements. We expect that pension
expense will continue to fluctuate on a year-to-year basis
depending upon the investment performance of plan assets,
but such changes are not expected to be material as a
percentage of income before income taxes.
Asbestos Charges As described in Note H to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, we recorded asbestos
charges of $380.0 million and $78.0 million during the years
ended May 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Please refer to
our Consolidated Financial Statements for further
information.
Net Interest Expense Net interest expense was
$6.0 million higher this year than a year ago. Interest rates
averaged 5.19% during this year, compared with 4.85% a
year ago, accounting for nearly $3.1 million in increased
interest expense. This average rate increase is largely related
to the Federal Reserve Bank rate increases during the past
year, which directly affects the interest rates on our variablerate indebtedness. Additional borrowings associated with
recent acquisitions added approximately $6.6 million more
interest expense this year, while reductions of outstanding
debt during the past year reduced interest cost by
approximately $2.2 million and improved investment income
performance provided approximately $1.5 million of
additional income.
Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes (“IBT”)
Consolidated loss before taxes this year of $122.5 million
represents a decline of $286.2 million, or 174.8%, from IBT
of $163.7 million last year, with margin comparisons of
(4.1)% of net sales versus 6.4% a year ago. Excluding both
years’ asbestos charges, consolidated IBT this year would
have amounted to $257.5 million, an improvement of
$15.8 million, or 6.5%, from adjusted IBT of $241.7 million
last year, with margin comparisons of 8.6% of net sales
versus 9.5% a year ago. This decline in margin year-overyear reflects primarily the one-time costs incurred during
this year’s second quarter, as previously discussed; the
negative margin impact from higher material costs this year;
and relatively low first-year IBT results, as expected, from
the illbruck acquisition.
Industrial segment IBT grew by $32.6 million, or 19.4%,
to $201.2 million from last year’s $168.6 million, mainly
from the strength of this segment’s organic sales growth.
Consumer segment IBT improved by $11.5 million, or
7.8%, to $159.1 million from $147.6 million last year, also
reflecting mainly organic sales growth along with cost
controls, partly offset by the negative margin impact from
higher material costs in this segment. Combined operating
IBT improved by $44.2 million, or 14.0%, over last year.

For a reconciliation of IBT to earnings before interest and
taxes, see the Segment Information table located on page
15 of this Annual Report.
Income Tax Rate The effective income tax benefit rate was
37.8% for 2006 compared to an effective income tax
expense rate of 35.8% for 2005.
In 2006, and to a lesser extent in 2005, the effective tax rate
differed from the federal statutory rate principally as a
result of an increase in valuation allowances associated with
losses incurred by certain of our foreign businesses,
valuation allowances related to U.S. federal foreign tax
credit carryforwards, and other non-deductible business
operating expenses. The increases in the effective tax rate
were partially offset by the U.S. federal tax impact of
foreign operations and reductions in state and local taxes,
including an income tax benefit relating to changes in state
tax laws and the effects of lower tax rates enacted during
fiscal 2006.
As of May 31, 2006, we have determined, based on the
available evidence, that it is uncertain whether we will be
able to recognize certain deferred tax assets. Therefore, in
accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income
Taxes,” we intend to maintain the tax valuation allowances
recorded at May 31, 2006 for certain deferred tax assets until
sufficient positive evidence (for example, cumulative positive
foreign earnings or additional foreign source income) exists
to support the reversal of the tax valuation allowances.
The valuation allowances relate to U.S. federal foreign tax
credit carryforwards, certain foreign net operating losses
and net foreign deferred tax assets. The most significant
portion of the valuation allowance is associated with
deferred tax assets recorded in purchase accounting. Any
reversal of the valuation allowance that was recorded in
purchase accounting would reduce goodwill.
The effective income tax benefit rate for 2006 reflects the
impact of the $380.0 million asbestos liability charges.
Excluding these asbestos charges, the effective income tax
rate for this year would have been adjusted to a pro forma
effective income tax expense rate of 34.7%. The effective
income tax rate for 2005 reflects the impact of the
$78.0 million asbestos liability charges that year. Excluding
those asbestos charges, the effective income tax rate for
2005 would have been adjusted to a pro forma effective
income tax rate of 36.1%.
Net Income (Loss) Net loss of $76.2 million for the
year ended May 31, 2006 compares to net income of
$105.0 million last year. This $181.2 million decline reflects
the impact of the $244.3 million after-tax asbestos charges
taken this year, versus $49.5 million last year, for a net
difference of $194.8 million. Excluding the impact of these
asbestos charges, this year’s net income would have been
an adjusted $168.1 million, representing an increase of
$13.6 million, or 8.8%, from last year’s $154.5 million.
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Margin on sales would have been an adjusted 5.6% this year
compared with 6.0% of sales during last year, with this
40 bps margin difference mainly the result of the higher
year-over-year material costs and lower first-year earnings
results, as expected, from the illbruck acquisition.
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share this year of ($0.65)
compare with $0.86 last year. Excluding the asbestos
charges, adjusted 2006 diluted earnings per common share
would have increased by 8.0%, to $1.35 from an adjusted
$1.25 a year ago.
Fiscal 2005 Compared with Fiscal 2004
Net Sales Net sales for the year ended May 31, 2005 of
$2.556 billion increased 10.8%, or $248.2 million, over 2004’s
net sales of $2.308 billion. Contributing to this improvement
was the continued growth in organic sales of $187.6 million,
or 8.1% (1.9% pricing), plus eight small acquisitions
completed during fiscal 2005 and 2004, net of one small
divestiture, resulting in another 1.3% growth in sales, or
$28.4 million. Favorable foreign exchange rates, relating
primarily to the euro ($16.3 million) and the Canadian
dollar ($12.0 million), provided the remaining 1.4%, or
$32.2 million, of the growth in sales over 2004.
Industrial segment net sales grew 13.3% to $1.442 billion
from fiscal 2004’s $1.273 billion, comprising 56.0% of the
2005 consolidated net sales. This segment’s net sales growth
came primarily from organic sales growth of 9.4% (1.3%
pricing), another 1.9% from favorable foreign exchange
differences, and six small acquisitions, net of the one small
divestiture, added the remaining 2.0% of growth to
industrial sales. There were notable organic sales
improvements among powder coatings; corrosion control
coatings; roofing, including services; and in construction
sealants, admixtures and exterior insulating finishes, with
much of this latter growth related to increased U.S.
commercial construction activity. The demand for most of
our industrial product lines increased in 2005 as the economy
in general, and the industrial sector in particular, improved.
Consumer segment net sales grew 7.7% to $1.114 billion
from 2004’s $1.035 billion, comprising 44.0% of consolidated
net sales. Organic sales growth added 6.6% (2.6% pricing)
to the consumer segment sales total, in addition to 0.8%
from favorable foreign exchange differences. Two small
bolt-on product line acquisitions provided the remaining
0.3% of sales growth. There were notable organic sales
improvements among wood care products, primer-sealers,
caulks and sealants, and small-project paints and coatings.
This strong organic growth was the result of fairly steady
retail demand by the consumer throughout fiscal 2005,
coupled with continuous product development among
our businesses.
Gross Profit Margin Consolidated gross profit margin of
43.3% of net sales for 2005 declined from 44.7% in 2004.
Continued higher costs of raw materials, particularly
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petroleum-based, impacted this margin by approximately
260 bps, and, combined with a lower-margin mix of sales
among product lines and services, more than offset margin
benefits generated primarily from the leverage of higher
organic sales volume and price increases (170 bps)
implemented by our businesses.
Industrial segment gross profit margin declined to 44.8% of
net sales from 45.7% in fiscal 2004. The principal factors
contributing to the decline in gross margins in this segment
were continued higher raw material costs, which impacted
margins by approximately 170 bps, partly offset by price
increases of approximately 120 bps, and a lower-margin mix
of sales.
Consumer segment gross profit margin for 2005 declined
to 41.3% of net sales from 43.4% in 2004. There were
approximately 370 bps of negative margin impact from
higher raw material and packaging costs in this segment,
plus certain changes in the mix of sales, which exceeded
the 240 bps benefit from price increases implemented
during 2005, plus margin leverage from the higher organic
sales volume.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
(“SG&A”) Consolidated SG&A expense levels in 2005
improved 150 bps to 32.5% of net sales compared with
34.0% in 2004. The leverage of organic sales growth
over 2004 was the primary contributing factor to the
improvement in this category. The higher cost of fuel,
which contributed to higher distribution costs (30 bps),
the adoption of SFAS No. 123 (refer to Notes A and D), in
combination with the expensing of initial grants under the
2004 Omnibus Equity and Incentive Plan (20 bps), increased
compensation, and other growth-related investments
partially offset these gains.
Industrial segment SG&A improved by 150 bps to 33.2% of
net sales in 2005 from 34.7% in 2004. The main contributors
to SG&A improvement were the leverage of organic sales
growth along with cost containment and other savings
programs. These improvements were partially offset by
higher distribution costs (30 bps), increased compensation
(50 bps) and other growth-related investments.
Consumer segment SG&A improved by 160 bps to 28.1%
of net sales in 2005 compared with 29.7% in 2004. This
segment’s organic growth in sales also provided leverage
benefits along with continued cost containment and other
savings programs. Partly offsetting these benefits were
increased compensation and other growth-related
investments made in this segment, in addition to increased
fuel-related distribution costs (30 bps).
Corporate/Other costs increased to $38.1 million in 2005
from $36.7 million in 2004. Generally lower insurance costs
(approximately $3.1 million) and certain other expense
reductions partly offset higher costs related to the
combination of the adoption of SFAS No. 123 and the
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expensing of initial grants under the Omnibus Plan,
approximating $3.8 million, as well as higher corporate
governance costs, principally start-up costs related to SarbanesOxley Section 404 compliance, approximating $2.0 million.
License fee and joint venture income of $0.6 million for 2005
and $0.7 million for 2004 are reflected as reductions of
consolidated SG&A expenses.
We recorded total net periodic pension expense of
$14.5 million and $15.9 million for the years ended May 31,
2005 and 2004, respectively. Additionally, we recorded net
periodic postretirement expense of $1.5 million and
$1.2 million for the years ended May 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. The decreased pension expense of $1.4 million
was largely attributable to a net improvement in the
expected return on plan assets, approximating $3.3 million,
combined with decreased net actuarial losses recognized,
which positively impacted year-over-year expense by
approximately $0.9 million. Offsetting those benefits were
increased pension service and interest cost totaling
approximately $2.8 million. A change of 0.25% in the
discount rate or expected return on plan assets assumptions
would result in $0.9 million and $0.4 million higher pension
expense, respectively. The assumptions and estimates used
to determine the discount rate and expected return on plan
assets are more fully described in Note F, “Pension Plans,”
and Note G, “Postretirement Health Care Benefits,” to our
Consolidated Financial Statements. We expect that pension
expense will fluctuate on a year-to-year basis depending
upon the performance of plan assets, but such changes are
not expected to be material as a percent of income before
income taxes.
Asbestos Charges As described above and in Note H to
the Consolidated Financial Statements, certain of our wholly
owned subsidiaries, principally Bondex, along with many
other U.S. companies, are and have been involved in a large
number of asbestos-related suits filed primarily in state
courts during the past two decades with a vast majority of
current claims pending in five states – Illinois, Ohio,
Mississippi, Texas and Florida. During the fiscal year ended
May 31, 2003, we recorded an asbestos charge of
$140.0 million for measurable and known claims, which
included a $51.2 million provision for future claims
estimable as of May 31, 2003. We believed that this reserve
would be sufficient to cover asbestos-related cash flow
requirements over the estimated three-year life of the
reserve. The $140.0 million charge also included
$15.0 million in total projected defense costs over the
estimated three-year life of the reserve.
Additionally, Bondex’s share of costs (net of then-available
third-party insurance) for asbestos-related product liability
was $6.7 million for the year ended May 31, 2003. In fiscal
2004, Bondex’s asbestos-related cash payments, net of
insurance contributions, amounted to $54.0 million and
were charged against the balance sheet reserve established
in 2003. Based on our review of our asbestos reserve for the

second quarter ended November 30, 2004, we concluded
that the $56.0 million balance of the $140.0 million reserve
would not likely be sufficient to cover our asbestos-related
cash flow requirements for the remainder of the full threeyear period originally contemplated by the reserve.
Accordingly, we concluded that an increase in our existing
reserve was appropriate and took an asbestos reserve
adjustment of $47.0 million for the quarter ended
November 30, 2004, which we believed would be sufficient
to cover any incremental cash flow requirements through
fiscal 2006 not covered by the $140.0 million reserve, as
well as the additional cash flow requirements for the
balance of our then-pending known claims and anticipated
higher defense costs. Approximately $32.0 million of the
$47.0 million reserve adjustment was allocated to
anticipated higher future defense costs.
During the third fiscal quarter ended February 28, 2005,
based on a review of our then-pending known claims,
coupled with a review of our defense costs, we concluded
that an increase in our existing reserve was again
appropriate. An asbestos reserve adjustment of $15.0 million
was taken for the quarter ended February 28, 2005. With
cash outlays of $21.9 million in the third quarter, our
asbestos reserves aggregated $96.3 million at February 28,
2005, which we believed would be sufficient to cover the
cash flow requirements for the balance of our then-pending
known claims and defense costs. Our $15.0 million reserve
increase assumed that approximately $6.1 million will be
allocated to higher future defense costs, which we expected
to continue. During the fourth quarter ended May 31, 2005,
an additional $16.0 million was added to the asbestos
reserve based on management’s quarterly review of pending
claims and defense costs. With cash outlays of $11.1 million
during the fourth quarter, our asbestos reserves totaled
$101.2 million at May 31, 2005, which we believed would be
sufficient to cover the cash flow requirements for the
balance of our pending known claims, including defense
costs. Of the $16.0 million reserve increase, approximately
$15.8 million was expected to be allocated to anticipated
higher future defense costs, which we expected to continue.
Net Interest Expense Net interest expense was
$6.4 million higher in 2005 than 2004. Interest rates overall
averaged 4.9% during 2005, compared with 4.2% in 2004,
accounting for $6.8 million of the interest cost increase.
Additional debt outstanding during 2005 cost approximately
$1.6 million more as compared to the same cost during 2004.
These increases are primarily due to our debt refinancings
(refer to “Liquidity and Capital Resources” section),
including the $200 million 6.25% Senior Notes issued in
December 2003 and the $200 million 4.45% Senior
Unsecured Notes issued in September 2004. Higher average
net borrowings in 2005 of approximately $24.0 million,
associated with recent acquisitions, added $0.8 million of
interest cost, while investment income performance
improved year-over-year, providing $2.8 million of
additional income.
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Income Before Income Taxes (“IBT”) Consolidated IBT for
2005 of $163.7 million compared with $217.6 million in 2004,
with $78.0 million of this decline resulting from the asbestos
charges taken during fiscal 2005. Excluding the charges, IBT
in 2005 would have been an adjusted $241.7 million, or
ahead by $24.1 million, or 11.1%, from 2004’s $217.6 million,
resulting in margins at 9.5% and 9.4% of sales for 2005 and
2004, respectively. This reflects the combined positive
impacts from the higher organic sales volume, cost controls,
productivity improvements and pricing initiatives, offsetting
the approximate 260 bps impact of higher material costs,
plus higher fuel-related distribution costs, the continuation
of growth-related investments during fiscal 2005 in both
operating segments and higher interest expense.
Industrial segment IBT in 2005 grew by $27.9 million, or
19.8%, to $168.6 million, or 11.7% of sales, from 2004’s
$140.7 million, or 11.1% of sales, mainly from the higher
organic sales volume. Consumer segment IBT in 2005 grew
by $4.7 million, or 3.3%, to $147.6 million, or 13.2% of
sales, from 2004’s $142.9 million, or 13.8% of sales, with
the margin decline mainly from higher material costs more
than offsetting pricing increases and organic sales growth
leverage in this segment. Combined, operating IBT in
2005 grew to $316.2 million, or 12.4% of sales, ahead
$32.6 million, or 11.5%, over 2004’s $283.6 million, or
12.3% of sales.
For a reconciliation of IBT to earnings before interest and
taxes, see the Segment Information table located on page
15 of this Annual Report.
Income Tax Rate The effective income tax rate was 35.8%
for 2005 compared to an effective income tax rate of 34.8%
for 2004. The effective income tax rate for 2005 reflects the
impact of the $78.0 million asbestos liability charges taken
during the year. Excluding the asbestos charges, the
adjusted effective income tax rate for 2005 would have been
a pro forma rate of 36.1%. This increase in the adjusted
effective income tax rate, excluding the asbestos charges, is
principally due to an increase in tax valuation allowances
recorded in 2005, the reduction in the extraterritorial
income exclusion benefit, changes in the jurisdictional mix
of income and the impact of our foreign operations.
As of May 31, 2005, we determined, based on the available
evidence, that it was uncertain whether we would be able
to recognize certain deferred tax assets. Therefore, in
accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income
Taxes,” we intend to maintain tax valuation allowances for
certain deferred tax assets until sufficient positive evidence
exists to support the reversal of the tax valuation
allowances, such as cumulative positive foreign earnings or
additional foreign source income.
The valuation allowances relate to U.S. federal foreign tax
credit carryforwards, certain foreign net operating losses
and net foreign deferred tax assets recorded in purchase
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accounting. The most significant portion of the valuation
allowance is associated with deferred tax assets recorded in
purchase accounting. Any reversal of the valuation
allowance that was recorded in purchase accounting would
reduce goodwill. A reduction of the valuation allowance
of $0.5 million was accordingly allocated to goodwill
during 2005.
Net Income Net income for fiscal 2005 of $105.0 million
compared with 2004’s $141.9 million, reflecting the
$49.5 million after-tax cost of the asbestos liability charges
taken during the fiscal year. Excluding these charges, 2005’s
adjusted net income would have been $154.5 million, ahead
$12.6 million, or 8.9%, from 2004. The margin on sales
would have been an adjusted 6.0% and 6.1% of sales for
2005 and 2004, respectively, despite the net impact from
higher material costs. Similarly, 2005 diluted earnings per
common share would have increased to an adjusted $1.25,
or ahead by 7.8% from an adjusted $1.16 in 2004. As a result
of our adoption of EITF 04-8, as outlined in Notes A and D,
diluted earnings per share for the year ended May 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003 have been restated to include the 8,034,355
shares issuable upon conversion of our contingently
convertible debt.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Operating Activities
Operating activities generated positive cash flow of
$185.5 million during fiscal 2006 compared with
$157.4 million generated during 2005, a net increase of
17.9% or $28.1 million. Factoring out the after-tax asbestosrelated cash payments of $37.7 million and $42.8 million,
respectively, operating activities generated positive cash
flow of $223.1 million in fiscal 2006 compared with
$200.2 million during the prior year, up $22.9 million or
11.4%. During fiscal 2006, net income was affected by
$380.0 million ($244.3 million after tax) in charges for
asbestos-related liabilities, which had no effect on cash flow.
Fiscal 2006 adjusted net income of $168.1 million, excluding
the asbestos charges, represents a $13.6 million increase
over 2005 adjusted net income of $154.5 million. Cash flow
from operations during 2006 was positively impacted by
additional depreciation and amortization of $8.3 million
versus the prior year. Trade accounts receivable provided
$3.9 million in cash flow year-over-year, principally
associated with improved collections procedures, which
resulted in a favorable reduction of 2.0 days sales
outstanding (“DSO”) since May 31, 2005. Inventories
provided $2.2 million in operating cash year-over-year as a
result of improvements in our days outstanding in inventory,
which improved by 1.5 days since May 31, 2005. Accounts
payable required $26.7 million additional cash year-overyear, mainly as a result of a 9.1 day improvement in accounts
payable days outstanding during last fiscal year versus a
1.3 day decline during the current fiscal year.
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Prepaid expenses and other current assets provided a yearover-year favorable change of approximately $15.2 million,
primarily from an insurance receivable recorded during fiscal
2005, and the timing of payments and receipts. Accrued
compensation and benefits provided a change of
$31.9 million, a large portion of which resulted from an
increase in pension obligations associated with adjustments
to our actuarial assumptions relating to our Canadian
pension plans, along with positive year-over-year changes in
bonus and employee benefit-related accruals. Accrued loss
reserves resulted in an unfavorable year-over-year change of
$7.5 million, primarily as a result of the recording of
additional loss reserves related to product liability during
2005 versus 2006. Accrued other liabilities were a use of cash
of $4.0 million, mainly as a result of year-over-year net
reductions in interest accruals. Other long-term assets had
an unfavorable year-over-year change of $13.2 million,
mostly as a result of entering into multi-year contractual
arrangements during this fiscal year.
Changes in long-term and short-term asbestos-related
reserves, net of taxes, of approximately $37.7 million in fiscal
2006 and $42.8 million in fiscal 2005 were a year-over-year
improvement in cash flow of $5.1 million. As disclosed in our
“Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates” and our
discussion on asbestos litigation (also refer to Note H), the
significant increase in asbestos claims activity and costs
relating to our Bondex subsidiary caused our related thirdparty insurance to be depleted during the first quarter of
fiscal 2004. Accordingly, we are now funding costs previously
covered by insurance with cash from operations. We
anticipate that cash from operations and other sources will
continue to be sufficient to meet all asbestos-related
obligations on a short-term and long-term basis.
All other remaining balance sheet changes related to cash
flows from operations had a net unfavorable impact of
$0.7 million, mostly due to timing or exchange differences.
Cash provided from operations remains our primary
source of financing internal growth, with limited use of
short-term debt.
Investing Activities
Capital expenditures, other than for ordinary repairs and
replacements, are made to accommodate our continued
growth through improved production and distribution
efficiencies and capacity, and to enhance administration.
Capital expenditures during fiscal 2006 of $61.2 million
compare with depreciation of $56.5 million. While we are
not a capital intensive business and capital expenditures
generally do not exceed depreciation in a given year, capital
spending is expected to outpace our depreciation level in
2007, and possibly beyond, as additional capacity is brought
on-line to support our continued growth. With these
additional minor plant expansions, we believe there will be
adequate production and distribution capacity to meet our
needs at normal growth rates.

During fiscal 2006, we invested a total of $185.4 million for
the acquisitions of illbruck (refer to Note A) and five smaller
businesses or product lines. In addition, we divested one
small business for gross proceeds of $10.6 million.
Our captive insurance companies invest in marketable
securities in the ordinary course of conducting their
operations, and this activity will continue. Differences in
these activities between years are attributable to the timing
and performance of their investments.
Financing Activities
On September 30, 2004, we issued and sold $200 million
aggregated principal amount of 4.45% Senior Unsecured
Notes due 2009 (“4.45% Senior Notes”), which we
concurrently swapped back to floating interest debt (refer to
interest rate risk below). The 4.45% Senior Notes were
offered to qualified institutional buyers under Rule 144A.
While the net proceeds were primarily earmarked to prefund the retirement of the 7% Senior Notes, which matured
June 15, 2005, portions of the net proceeds had been used to
retire the $15.0 million 6.12% Senior Notes, which matured
November 15, 2004, and to repay our then-outstanding
$68.0 million commercial paper. On April 26, 2005, pursuant
to a Registration Rights Agreement between the Company
and the initial purchasers of the 4.45% Notes, we completed
an exchange offer to allow holders to exchange the 4.45%
Senior Notes for the same principal amount of the Notes
registered under the Securities Act of 1933.
During November 2004, we entered into a $330 million
five-year revolving credit facility (“Credit Agreement”), due
November 19, 2009. This facility will be used for general
corporate purposes, including acquisitions and to provide
back-up liquidity for the issuance of commercial paper.
The facility provides for borrowings in U.S. dollars and
several foreign currencies in an aggregate amount of up to
$25.0 million and a swing-line up to $20.0 million for shortterm borrowings of less than 15 days. In addition, the size of
the facility may be expanded upon our request by up to an
additional $100.0 million, thus potentially expanding the
facility to $430.0 million, subject to lender approval. As of
May 31, 2006, we had $10.0 million outstanding under
this facility.
On October 19, 2005, we issued and sold $150 million
aggregated principal amount of 6.7% Senior Unsecured
Notes due 2015 (“6.7% Senior Unsecured Notes”) of our
indirect wholly owned subsidiary, RPM United Kingdom G.P.
RPM International Inc. will fully and unconditionally
guarantee the payment obligations under the Senior
Unsecured Notes. The net proceeds of the offering of the
Senior Unsecured Notes were used by RPM United Kingdom
G.P. for refinancing $138 million of revolving credit facility
borrowings associated with the August 31, 2005 acquisition
of illbruck and for other general corporate purposes.
Concurrent with the issuance of the 6.7% Senior Unsecured
Notes, RPM United Kingdom G.P. entered into a cross
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currency swap, which fixed the interest and principal
payments in euros for the life of Senior Unsecured Notes
and results in an effective euro fixed-rate borrowing of
5.31%. The Senior Unsecured Notes were offered to
qualified institutional buyers under Rule 144A of the
Securities Act of 1933. The Notes have not been and will not
be registered under the Securities Act of 1933 or any state
securities laws.

value hedge to pay floating rates of interest based on sixmonth LIBOR that matures in fiscal 2010. As of May 31, 2006
and 2005, the fair value of our hedges totaled $23.9 million
and $2.4 million, respectively. Because critical terms of the
debt and interest rate swap match, the hedge is considered
perfectly effective against changes in fair value of debt, and
therefore, there is no need to periodically reassess the
effectiveness during the term of the hedge.

On July 18, 2006, we prepaid our 6.61% Senior Notes, Series
B, due November 15, 2006, and our 7.30% Senior Notes,
Series C, due November 15, 2008 (collectively, the “Notes”).
We paid all amounts due pursuant to the terms of the
Purchase Agreement and did not incur any material early
termination penalties in connection with our termination of
the Notes.

Our available committed liquidity beyond our cash balance
at May 31, 2006 stood at $405.7 million (refer to Note B).
Our debt-to-capital ratio was 48.6% at May 31, 2006
compared with 44.7% at May 31, 2005. Had we been able to
reduce our total outstanding debt by all of our cash and
short-term investments available as of May 31, 2006 and
May 31, 2005, our adjusted net (of cash) debt-to-capital
would have been 45.3% and 38.7%, respectively. This
difference primarily reflects the additional indebtedness
related to the August 31, 2005 illbruck acquisition (refer to
Notes A and B).

We are exposed to market risk associated with interest rates.
We do not use financial derivative instruments for trading
purposes, nor do we engage in foreign currency, commodity
or interest rate speculation. In addition to the hedge risk
associated with our 6.7% Senior Unsecured Notes discussed
above, our only other hedged risks are associated with
certain fixed debt whereby we have a $200 million notional
amount interest rate swap contract designated as a fair

We maintain excellent relations with our banks and other
financial institutions to provide continual access to financing
for future growth opportunities.

The following table summarizes our financial obligations and their expected maturities at May 31, 2006 and the effect such
obligations are expected to have on our liquidity and cash flow in the periods indicated.
Contractual Obligations
Payments Due In
(In thousands)

Total Contractual
Payment Stream

2008-09

2010-11

After 2011

Long-term debt obligations

$ 876,556

$ 6,141

$277,096

$240,771

$352,548

Operating lease obligations

89,212

27,524

34,352

13,926

13,410

Other long-term liabilities 1

386,380

58,821

84,981

81,448

161,130

$1,352,148

$92,486

$396,429

$336,145

$527,088

Total
1

These amounts represent our estimated cash contributions to be made in the periods indicated for our pension and postretirement plans, assuming no actuarial
gains or losses, assumption changes or plan changes occur in any period. The projection results assume $11.9 million will be contributed to the U.S. plan in
fiscal 2007; all other plans and years assume the required minimum contribution will be contributed. Also included are expected interest payments on longterm debt.

The condition of the U.S. dollar fluctuated throughout the
year, and was moderately weaker against other major
currencies where we conduct operations at the fiscal year
end over the previous year end, causing a favorable change
in the accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
(refer to Note A) component of stockholders’ equity of
$28.2 million this year versus $15.0 million last year. This
change was in addition to changes of $(9.3) million and
$1.0 million related to adjustments required for minimum
pension liabilities and unrealized gain (loss) on securities,
respectively.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any off-balance sheet financings, other than
the minimum leasing commitments described in Note E. We
have no subsidiaries that are not included in our financial
statements, nor do we have any interests in or relationships
with any special purpose entities that are not reflected in
our financial statements.
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QUALITATIVE AND QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURES
ABOUT MARKET RISK
We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates
and foreign currency exchange rates because we fund our
operations through long- and short-term borrowings and
denominate our business transactions in a variety of foreign
currencies. We utilize a sensitivity analysis to measure the
potential loss in earnings based on a hypothetical 1%
increase in interest rates and a 10% change in foreign
currency rates. A summary of our primary market risk
exposures follows.
Interest Rate Risk
Our primary interest rate risk exposure results from our
floating rate debt, including various revolving and other
lines of credit (refer to Note B). At May 31, 2006,
approximately 37.9% of our debt was subject to floating
interest rates. If interest rates were to increase 100 bps from
May 31, 2006 and assuming no changes in debt from the
May 31, 2006 levels, the additional annual interest expense
would amount to approximately $3.3 million on a pre-tax
basis. A similar increase in interest rates in fiscal 2005 would
have resulted in approximately $3.0 million in additional
interest expense.
Our hedged risks are associated with certain fixed-rate debt
whereby we have a $200.0 million notional amount interest
rate swap contract designated as a fair value hedge to pay
floating rates of interest based on six-month LIBOR that
matures in fiscal 2010. Because critical terms of the debt and
interest rate swap match, the hedge is considered perfectly
effective against changes in the fair value of debt, and
therefore, there is no need to periodically reassess the
effectiveness during the term of the hedge.
All derivative instruments are recognized on the balance
sheet and measured at fair value. Changes in the fair values
of derivative instruments that do not qualify as hedges
and/or any ineffective portion of hedges are recognized as a
gain or loss in our consolidated statement of income in the
current period. Changes in the fair value of derivative
instruments used effectively as fair value hedges are
recognized in earnings (losses), along with the change in the
value of the hedged item. Such derivative transactions are
accounted for under SFAS No. 133 “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended
and interpreted. The Company does not hold or issue
derivative instruments for speculative purposes.

Foreign Currency Risk
Our foreign sales and results of operations are subject to the
impact of foreign currency fluctuations (refer to Note A). As
most of our foreign operations are in countries with fairly
stable currencies, such as Belgium, Canada and the United
Kingdom, this effect has not generally been material. In
addition, foreign debt is denominated in the respective
foreign currency, thereby eliminating any related translation
impact on earnings.
If the U.S. dollar continues to weaken, our foreign results of
operations will be positively impacted, but the effect is not
expected to be material. A 10% change in foreign currency
exchange rates would not have resulted in a material impact
to net income for the years ended May 31, 2006 and 2005.
We do not currently hedge against the risk of exchange rate
fluctuations.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
The foregoing discussion includes forward-looking
statements relating to our business. These forward-looking
statements, or other statements made by us, are made based
on our expectations and beliefs concerning future events
impacting us and are subject to uncertainties and factors
(including those specified below) that are difficult to predict
and in many instances, are beyond our control. As a result,
our actual results could differ materially from those
expressed in or implied by any such forward-looking
statements. These uncertainties and factors include:
(a) general economic conditions; (b) the price and supply of
raw materials, particularly petroleum-based, titanium
dioxide, certain resins, aerosols and solvents; (c) continued
growth in demand for our products; (d) legal, environmental
and litigation risks inherent in our construction and
chemicals businesses and risks related to the adequacy of
our reserves and insurance coverage for such matters;
(e) the effect of changes in interest rates; (f) the effect of
fluctuations in currency exchange rates upon our foreign
operations; (g) the effect of non-currency risks of investing
in and conducting operations in foreign countries, including
those relating to domestic and international political, social,
economic and regulatory factors; (h) risks and uncertainties
associated with our ongoing acquisition and divestiture
activities; (i) risks inherent in our contingent liability
reserves, including for the Company’s existing and future
asbestos-related claims; and other risks detailed in our other
reports and statements filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, including the risk factors set forth in
our prospectus and prospectus supplement included as part
of our Registration Statement on Form S-3 (file No. 333120536) and in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended May 31, 2006, as the same may be
amended from time to time.
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consolidated balance sheets
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

May 31

2006

2005

Assets
Current Assets

Cash and short-term investments
Trade accounts receivable (less allowances of $20,252 in 2006
and $18,565 in 2005)
Inventories
Deferred income taxes
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

$

108,616

$

184,140

650,945
399,014
48,885
161,758

553,084
334,404
40,876
156,491

1,369,218

1,268,995

Land
Buildings and leasehold improvements
Machinery and equipment

28,849
267,899
590,528

24,510
236,576
514,478

Less allowance for depreciation and amortization

887,276
442,584

775,564
385,586

444,692

389,978

750,635
321,942
20,248
73,483

663,224
275,744

1,166,308

988,502

$ 2,980,218

$ 2,647,475

$

$

Total current assets
Property, Plant and Equipment, at Cost

Property, plant and equipment, net
Other Assets

Goodwill
Other intangible assets, net of amortization
Deferred income taxes, non-current
Other
Total other assets
Total Assets

49,534

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities

Accounts payable
Current portion of long-term debt
Accrued compensation and benefits
Accrued loss reserves
Asbestos-related liabilities
Other accrued liabilities

333,684
6,141
136,384
66,678
58,925
111,688

274,573
97
95,667
65,452
55,000
84,550

713,500

575,339

870,415
362,360
108,002

837,948
46,172
71,363
78,914

Total long-term liabilities

1,340,777

1,034,397

Total liabilities

2,054,277

1,609,736

1,187
545,422

1,176
526,434

29,839
349,493

10,004
500,125

925,941

1,037,739

$ 2,980,218

$ 2,647,475

Total current liabilities
Long-Term Liabilities

Long-term debt, less current maturities
Asbestos-related liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Deferred income taxes

Stockholders’ Equity

Preferred stock, par value $0.01; authorized 50,000 shares;
none issued
Common stock, par value $0.01; authorized 300,000 shares;
issued and outstanding 118,743 as of May 2006;
issued and outstanding 117,554 as of May 2005
Paid-in capital
Treasury stock, at cost
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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consolidated statements of income
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended May 31
Net Sales

Cost of Sales
Gross Profit
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Asbestos Charges
Interest Expense, Net

2006

2005

2004

$3,008,338
1,756,770

$2,555,735
1,449,184

$2,307,553
1,276,372

1,251,568
952,700
380,000
41,343

1,106,551
829,445
78,000
35,378

1,031,181
784,620

(122,475)
(46,270)

163,728
58,696

217,616
75,730

(76,205)

$ 105,032

$ 141,886

116,899
126,364

115,777
124,744

Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes
Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes
Net Income (Loss)

Average Number of Shares of Common Stock Outstanding
Basic
Diluted
Earnings (Loss) per Common Share
Basic
Diluted
Cash Dividends per Share of Common Stock

$

116,837
116,837
$
$
$

(0.65)
(0.65)
0.63

$
$
$

0.90
0.86
0.59

28,945

$
$
$

1.23
1.16
0.55

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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consolidated statements of cash flows
(In thousands)

Year Ended May 31

2006

2005

2004

$105,032

$141,886

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:

Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net
cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Amortization
Increase (decrease) in asbestos-related liabilities
Increase (decrease) in deferred income taxes
(Earnings) of unconsolidated affiliates
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effect
from purchases and sales of businesses:
(Increase) decrease in receivables
(Increase) decrease in inventory
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other
current and long-term assets
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable
Increase (decrease) in accrued compensation and benefits
Increase (decrease) in accrued loss reserves
Increase (decrease) in other accrued liabilities
Payments made for asbestos-related claims
Other, including exchange rate changes
Cash From Operating Activities

$ (76,205)

56,463
17,836
380,000
(116,616)
(890)

49,841
16,151
78,000
305
(354)

47,840
15,437

(59,734)
(42,255)

(63,611)
(44,429)

(41,516)
(31,949)

(18,227)
42,315
38,513
1,226
25,700
(59,887)
(2,750)

(20,220)
69,037
6,621
8,753
16,822
(67,435)
2,839

(109)
30,607
9,124
(7,531)
7,908
(53,976)
4,813

185,489

157,352

154,035

(61,155)
(174,625)
(59,416)
50,105
(895)
9,282
2,323

(55,609)
(20,100)
(44,309)
39,154
136
5,426
(666)

(51,253)
(37,703)
(36,955)
21,410
(425)
3,664
(1,284)

(234,381)

(75,968)

(102,546)

186,772
(152,862)
(74,427)
10,636

200,153
(79,665)
(68,933)
12,543

200,345
(206,623)
(63,651)
5,796

(29,881)

64,098

(64,133)

31,815
(314)

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:

Capital expenditures
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired
Purchase of marketable securities
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities
(Investments in) and distributions from unconsolidated affiliates
Proceeds from sale of assets and businesses
Other
Cash (Used For) Investing Activities
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:

Additions to long-term and short-term debt
Reductions of long-term and short-term debt
Cash dividends
Exercise of stock options
Cash From (Used For) Financing Activities
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and
Short-Term Investments
Net Change in Cash and Short-Term Investments
Cash and Short-Term Investments at Beginning of Year
Cash and Short-Term Investments at End of Year

3,249
(75,524)
184,140

4,099

234

149,581
34,559

(12,410)
46,969

$108,616

$184,140

$ 34,559

$ 50,690
$ 68,263

$ 39,279
$ 48,535

$ 25,572
$ 59,252

$ 3,545
$ 10,259

$

$

1,331

$

1,233

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flows Information:

Cash paid during the year for:
Interest
Income taxes
Supplemental Schedule of Non-Cash Investing
and Financing Activities:

Shares issued for restricted stock plan
Debt from business combinations
Receivables from sale of assets

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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1,960

consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity
(In thousands)

Number
of
Shares

Par/
Stated
Value

Paid-in
Capital

Treasury
Stock

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income
(Loss)

115,496

$1,156

$503,141

$(1,167)

$(17,169)

Common Stock

Balance at May 31, 2003

Comprehensive income
Net income
Translation gain and other
Comprehensive income
Dividends paid
Stock option exercises, net
Restricted stock awards, net
Balance at May 31, 2004

Comprehensive income
Net income
Translation gain and other
Comprehensive income
Dividends paid
Stock option exercises, net
Stock based compensation expense
Restricted stock awards, net
Balance at May 31, 2005

Comprehensive income
Net (loss)
Translation gain and other
Comprehensive (loss)
Dividends paid
Stock option exercises, net
Stock based compensation expense
Restricted stock awards, net
Balance at May 31, 2006

Retained
Earnings

Total

$385,791

$871,752

141,886
13,288
(63,651)
555
71

5

5,453
502

338
829

116,122

1,161

509,096

-0-

(3,881)

464,026

970,402

105,032

105,032
13,885
118,917
(68,933)
12,543
2,850
1,960

13,885
(68,933)
1,109

11

323

4

12,532
2,850
1,956

117,554

1,176

526,434

-0-

10,004

500,125
(76,205)

19,835
(74,427)
823

8

366

3

10,628
4,818
3,542

118,743

$1,187

$545,422

$

-0-

$ 29,839

141,886
13,288
155,174
(63,651)
5,796
1,331

$349,493

1,037,739
(76,205)
19,835
(56,370)
(74,427)
10,636
4,818
3,545
$925,941

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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notes to consolidated financial statements

NOTES to CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
May 31, 2006, 2005, 2004

NOTE A - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1. Consolidation and Basis of Presentation
Our financial statements consolidate all of our affiliates –
companies that we control and in which we hold a majority
voting interest. We account for our investments in less
than majority-owned joint ventures under the equity
method. Effects of transactions between related companies
are eliminated in consolidation.
Our business is dependent on external weather factors.
Historically, we have experienced strong sales and net
income in our first, second and fourth fiscal quarters
comprised of the three-month periods ending August 31,
November 30 and May 31, respectively, with weaker
performance in our third fiscal quarter (December
through February).
Certain reclassifications have been made to prior-year
amounts to conform to this year’s presentation.
2. Accounting Change—Intangibles
We have performed our annual impairment testing of
goodwill and intangibles not subject to amortization as of
August 31 in each year since our adoption of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets.” During the fourth quarter
of fiscal 2006, we changed the timing of our annual
impairment testing to March 1. We adopted this change in
timing in order to assess the recorded values of goodwill
and intangible assets not subject to amortization for
potential impairment at a time closer to our fiscal year-end
reporting date. We believe this change is preferable in
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reducing the risk that an undetected impairment indicator
would occur in between the timing of our annual test and
the preparation of our year-end financial statements. This
change had no effect on reported earnings for any period
presented.
3. Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) in the
United States requires us to make estimates and assumptions
that affect reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements, and reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.
4. Acquisitions/Divestitures
On August 31, 2005, Tremco, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary
of RPM, completed its acquisition of privately-owned
illbruck Sealant Systems, located in Cologne, Germany, for
approximately $136.4 million, plus debt assumption of
approximately $10.3 million, subject to certain post-closing
adjustments. illbruck, a leading manufacturer of highperformance sealants and installation systems for prefabricated construction elements and for window and door
applications, had sales of approximately $190.0 million for
its fiscal year ended December 31, 2004. The acquisition
extends our product line offerings to include joint sealing
tapes, flashing tapes, cartridge sealants and adhesives, strips,
foils and accessories marketed under brand names such as
illbruck, Festix, Perennator and Coco.

notes to consolidated financial statements

The purchase price has been allocated to the underlying
assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon their fair
values at the date of acquisition. We have determined the
preliminary estimated fair values based on independent
appraisals, discounted cash flow analyses, quoted market
prices and estimates made by management. Goodwill has
been recorded to the extent the purchase price exceeded
the preliminary fair values of the net identifiable tangible
and intangible assets acquired. Prior to the date of
acquisition, we began investigating the potential for
synergies associated with restructuring the operations at
certain locations, including possible involuntary termination
or relocation of certain employees, along with possible
closure of certain plants. At this time, restructuring plans
have not been finalized, pending investigation of the costs
and associated benefits of consolidating operations.

(In thousands)

The allocation of the illbruck purchase price is preliminary
and subject to adjustment following finalization of the
purchase price settlement process. The preliminary goodwill
figure of $52.3 million will be assigned to the various
subsidiaries of the illbruck Sealant Systems group upon
finalization of the allocation of purchase price and will not
be deductible for tax purposes.
In addition to the illbruck acquisition, during the year
ended May 31, 2006, we completed four other smaller
acquisitions of product lines. The following table
summarizes the preliminary estimated fair values of the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of
acquisition, with illbruck reflected separately due to its
more significant purchase price.

Amortization Life
(In Years)

illbruck

Other

$ 61,774
32,562
52,272
27,190
1,639
21,805

$22,506
6,853
20,214
4,751
4,275

$ 84,280
39,415
72,486
27,190
6,390
26,080

Total Assets Acquired

197,242

58,599

255,841

Liabilities assumed

(60,888)

(9,550)

(70,438)

Current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill
Tradenames - unamortized
Tradenames - other
Other intangible assets

Net Assets Acquired

Our Consolidated Financial Statements reflect the results of
operations of these businesses as of their respective dates of
acquisition. During the year ended May 31, 2006, we also
divested one small product line.
Pro forma results of operations for the years ended May 31,
2006 and May 31, 2005 were not materially different from
reported results and, consequently, are not presented.

N/A
N/A
12 - 15
4 - 12

$136,354

$49,049

Total

$185,403

5. Foreign Currency
The functional currency of our foreign subsidiaries is their
local currency. Accordingly, for the periods presented, assets
and liabilities have been translated using exchange rates at
year end while income and expense for the periods have
been translated using a weighted average exchange rate.
The resulting translation adjustments have been recorded in
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), a
component of stockholders’ equity, and will be included in
net earnings only upon the sale or liquidation of the
underlying foreign investment, neither of which is
contemplated at this time. Transaction gains and losses have
been immaterial during the past three fiscal years.
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6. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), which is shown net of taxes, consists of the following components:

(In thousands)

Balance at May 31, 2003
Reclassification adjustments for
losses included in net income
Other comprehensive income
Deferred taxes
Balance at May 31, 2004
Reclassification adjustments for (gains)
included in net income
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Deferred taxes
Balance at May 31, 2005
Reclassification adjustments for (gains)
included in net (loss)
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Deferred taxes
Balance at May 31, 2006

Unrealized
Gain (Loss)
on
Securities

Total

$ (6,191)

$(1,169)

$(17,169)

1,603
(467)

97
2,645
(276)

97
13,934
(743)

(5,055)

1,297

(3,881)

15,008

(2,379)
529

(73)
1,082
(282)

(73)
13,711
247

14,885

(6,905)

2,024

10,004

28,161

(14,700)
5,413

(17)
1,443
(465)

(17)
14,904
4,948

$43,046

$(16,192)

$ (9,809)

9,686
(123)

Minimum
Pension
Liability
Adjustments

$ 2,985

$ 29,839

7. Cash and Short-Term Investments

9. Financial Instruments

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, we consider all
highly liquid debt instruments purchased with a maturity of
three months or less to be cash equivalents. We do not
believe we are exposed to any significant credit risk on cash
and short-term investments.

Financial instruments recorded on the balance sheet include
cash and short-term investments, accounts receivable, notes
and accounts payable, and debt. The carrying amount of
cash and short-term investments, accounts receivable and
notes and accounts payable approximates fair value because
of their short-term maturity.

8. Marketable Securities
Marketable securities, included in other current assets, are
considered available for sale and are reported at fair value,
based on quoted market prices. Changes in unrealized
gains and losses, net of applicable taxes, are recorded in
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) within
Stockholders’ Equity. If we were to experience other-thantemporary declines in market value from original cost, those
amounts would be reflected in operating income in the
period in which the loss were to occur. In order to determine
whether an other-than-temporary decline in market value
has occurred, the duration of the decline in value and our
ability to hold the investment to recovery are considered in
conjunction with an evaluation of the strength of the
underlying collateral and the extent to which the
investment’s carrying value exceeds its related market value.
Marketable securities, primarily comprised of equity
securities, totaled $59.5 million and $49.1 million at May 31,
2006 and 2005, respectively.
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An allowance for anticipated uncollectible trade receivable
amounts is established using a combination of specifically
identified accounts to be reserved, and a reserve covering
trends in collectibility. These estimates are based on an
analysis of trends in collectibility, past experience, and
individual account balances identified as doubtful based on
specific facts and conditions. Receivable losses are charged
against the allowance when management confirms
uncollectibility.
All derivative instruments are recognized on the balance
sheet and measured at fair value. Changes in the fair values
of derivative instruments that do not qualify as hedges
and/or any ineffective portion of hedges are recognized as
a gain or loss in our consolidated statement of income in
the current period. Changes in the fair value of derivative
instruments used effectively as fair value hedges are
recognized in earnings (losses), along with the change in
the value of the hedged item. Such derivative transactions
are accounted for under SFAS No. 133 “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended
and interpreted. We do not hold or issue derivative
instruments for speculative purposes.

notes to consolidated financial statements

The carrying amount of our other debt instruments
approximates fair value based on quoted market prices,
variable interest rates or borrowing rates for similar types
of debt arrangements.
10. Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market, cost
being determined on a first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis and
market being determined on the basis of replacement cost
or net realizable value. Inventory costs include raw material,
labor and manufacturing overhead. Inventories were
composed of the following major classes:
May 31

2006

2005

(In thousands)

Raw materials and supplies
Finished goods

$124,573
274,441

$105,060
229,344

Total Inventories

$399,014

$334,404

11. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
We adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets,” as of June 1, 2001, at which time
we ceased the amortization of goodwill. During fiscal 2006,
we elected to change the timing of performing the required
annual impairment assessment from the first quarter of our
fiscal year to our fourth quarter. If a loss were to result from
the performance of the annual test, it would be reflected
in operating income. The annual goodwill impairment
assessment involves estimating the fair value of each
reporting unit and comparing it with its carrying amount.
If the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair
value, additional steps are followed to recognize a potential
impairment loss. Calculating the fair value of the reporting
units requires significant estimates and assumptions by
management. We estimate the fair value of our reporting
units by applying third-party market value indicators to each
of our reporting unit’s projected earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortization. In applying this

methodology, we rely on a number of factors, including
future business plans, actual operating results and market
data. In the event that our calculations indicate that
goodwill is impaired, a fair value estimate of each tangible
and intangible asset and liability would be established. This
process would require the application of discounted cash
flows expected to be generated by each asset in addition to
independent asset appraisals, as appropriate. Cash flow
estimates are based on our historical experience and our
internal business plans, and appropriate discount rates are
applied. The results of our annual impairment tests for the
fiscal years ended May 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 did not
require any adjustment to the carrying value of goodwill or
other indefinite-lived intangible assets.
The changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill, by
reporting segment, for the years ended May 31, 2006 and
2005, are as follows:

(In thousands)

Industrial
Segment

Balance as of
May 31, 2004
$303,743
Acquisitions
8,657
Purchase accounting
adjustments *
590
Divestitures
(2,114)
Translation adjustments
5,550
Balance as of
May 31, 2005
Acquisitions
Purchase accounting
adjustments *
Translation adjustments
Balance as of
May 31, 2006

Consumer
Segment

Total

$344,500
1,729

$648,243
10,386

569

590
(2,114)
6,119

316,426
69,252

346,798
3,234

663,224
72,486

11,134

2,204
1,587

2,204
12,721

$396,812

$353,823

$750,635

*Relates primarily to other accruals.
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Other intangible assets consist of the following major classes:

(In thousands)

Amortization
Period (in Years)

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net Other
Intangible
Assets

10 to 33
7 to 33
5 to 40
3 to 30

$190,665
82,739
18,607
26,468

$ 74,551
23,799
5,593
13,626

$116,114
58,940
13,014
12,842

318,479

117,569

200,910

As of May 31, 2006
Amortized intangible assets
Formulae
Customer-related intangibles
Trademarks/names
Other
Total Amortized Intangibles
Unamortized intangible assets
Trade names

121,032

Total Other Intangible Assets

As of May 31, 2005
Amortized intangible assets
Formulae
Customer-related intangibles
Trademarks/names
Other

10 to 33
7 to 33
5 to 40
3 to 30

Total Amortized Intangibles
Unamortized intangible assets
Trade names

121,032

$ 439,511

$117,569

$ 321,942

$176,884
69,152
9,812
24,335

$ 65,628
19,346
3,270
12,009

$111,256
49,806
6,542
12,326

280,183

100,253

179,930

95,814

Total Other Intangible Assets

$ 375,997

95,814
$100,253

$ 275,744

The aggregate other intangible asset amortization expense for the fiscal years ended May 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, was
$15.3 million, $13.0 million and $12.8 million, respectively. For each of the next five fiscal years through May 31, 2011, the
estimated annual intangible asset amortization expense will approximate $15.2 million.
12. Depreciation

Total depreciation expense for each fiscal period includes
the charges to income that result from the amortization of
assets recorded under capital leases.

results of contract performance on a timelier basis than
does the completed-contract method; however, application
of this method requires reasonably dependable estimates of
progress toward completion, as well as other dependable
estimates. When reasonably dependable estimates cannot
be made, or if other factors make estimates doubtful,
the completed-contract method is applied. Under the
completed-contract method, billings and costs are
accumulated on the balance sheet as the contract
progresses, but no revenue is recognized until the contract is
complete or substantially complete.

13. Revenue Recognition

14. Shipping Costs

Revenues are recognized when realized or realizable, and
when earned. In general, this is when title and risk of loss
passes to the customer. Further, revenues are generally
realizable when we have persuasive evidence of a sales
arrangement, the product has been shipped or the services
have been provided to the customer, the sales price is fixed
or determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured. We
reduce our revenues for estimated customer returns and
allowances, certain rebates, sales incentives, and promotions
in the same period the related sales are recorded.

Shipping costs paid to third-party shippers for transporting
products to customers are included in selling, general and
administrative expenses. For the years ended May 31, 2006,
2005 and 2004, shipping costs were $117.5 million,
$100.1 million and $86.0 million, respectively.

Depreciation is computed primarily using the straight-line
method over the following ranges of useful lives:
Land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Machinery and equipment

5 to 42 years
5 to 50 years
2 to 20 years

In general, we account for long-term construction-type
contracts under the percentage-of-completion method, and
therefore record contract revenues and related costs as our
contracts progress. This method recognizes the economic

34

RPM International Inc. and Subsidiaries

15. Advertising Costs
Advertising costs are charged to operations when incurred
and are included in selling, general and administrative
expenses. For the years ended May 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
advertising costs were $33.9 million, $33.7 million and
$37.1 million, respectively.
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16. Research and Development
Research and development costs are charged to operations
when incurred and are included in selling, general and
administrative expenses. The amounts charged for the years
ended May 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 were $32.3 million,
$28.9 million and $26.2 million, respectively.
17. Stock-Based Compensation
Effective June 1, 2004, we voluntarily adopted the
preferable fair value recognition provisions of Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” for our
stock-based employee compensation plans. As outlined by
SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation –
Transition and Disclosure,” we chose to apply the modified
prospective method in adopting this accounting change.
Under this method, stock-based employee compensation

expense recognized in fiscal 2006 and 2005 is the same as
that which would have been recognized had the fair value
recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 been applied to
account for all employee awards from its original effective
date. Results of prior periods have not been restated.
The adoption of SFAS No. 123 impacted net income,
basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share
for each of the years ended May 31, 2006 and 2005 by
approximately $2.4 million, $0.02 per share and $0.02 per
share, respectively. Prior to June 1, 2004 we accounted for
stock-based compensation in accordance with APB opinion
No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” The
following table represents the effect on net income and
earnings per share for the year ended May 31, 2004, as if
compensation cost for stock options granted had been
determined in accordance with the fair value method
prescribed by SFAS No. 123:
Year Ended
May 31, 2004

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Net income, as reported
Add: Income effect of contingently convertible shares1
Adjusted net income, as reported
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense from restricted stock plans
included in reported net income, net of related tax effects
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation determined under
fair value-based method for all awards, net of related tax effects

Diluted

$141,886

$141,886
3,142

141,886

145,028

825

825

(3,969)

Pro Forma Net Income
Earnings per Share:
As Reported
Pro Forma
1

Basic

(3,969)

$138,742

$141,884

$1.23

$1.16

$1.20

$1.14

Refer to Note D, Common Stock, for additional information regarding the accounting treatment of contingently convertible securities.

We grant stock options and stock appreciation rights (“SARs”) to our employees (refer to Note D, “Common Stock” for
further details). The fair value of stock options and SARs granted is estimated as of the date of grant using a Black-Scholes
option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:

Risk-free interest rate
Expected life of option
Expected dividend yield
Expected volatility rate

2006

2005

2004

4.2%
6.0 yrs
3.6%
27.7%

3.7%
6.4 yrs
3.4%
31.0%

3.7%
7.0 yrs
3.5%
35.9%

18. Interest Expense, Net

19. Income Taxes

Interest expense is shown net of investment income, which
consists of interest, dividends and capital gains (losses).
Investment income for the years ended May 31, 2006, 2005
and 2004 was $6.5 million, $5.0 million and $2.3 million,
respectively.

The provision for income taxes is calculated using the
liability method. Under the liability method, deferred
income taxes are recognized for the tax effect of temporary
differences between the financial statement carrying
amount of assets and liabilities and the amounts used for
income tax purposes and for certain changes in valuation
allowances. Valuation allowances are recorded to reduce
certain deferred tax assets when, in our estimation, it is
more likely than not that a tax benefit will not be realized.
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We have not provided for U.S. income and foreign
withholding taxes on approximately $551.0 million of
foreign subsidiaries’ undistributed earnings as of May 31,
2006, because such earnings have been retained and
reinvested by the subsidiaries. Accordingly, no provision has
been made for U.S. or foreign withholding taxes, which may

become payable if undistributed earnings of foreign
subsidiaries were paid to us as dividends. The additional
income taxes and applicable withholding taxes that would
result had such earnings actually been repatriated are not
practically determinable.

20. Earnings (Loss) Per Share of Common Stock
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share of common stock:
Year ended May 31

2006

2005

2004

116,837

116,899

115,777

116,837

116,899

115,777

1,431

933

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Shares Outstanding

For computation of basic earnings per share of common stock
Weighted average shares
Total shares for basic earnings per share
For computation of diluted earnings per share of common stock
Net issuable common share equivalents1
Additional shares issuable assuming conversion
of convertible securities1

8,034

8,034

116,837

126,364

124,744

$(76,205)

$105,032
3,099

$141,886
3,142

Net income (loss) applicable to shares of common stock
for diluted earnings per share

$(76,205)

$108,131

$145,028

Basic Earnings (Loss) Per Share

$

(0.65)

$

0.90

$

1.23

Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share

$

(0.65)

$

0.86

$

1.16

Total shares for diluted earnings per share
Net Income

Net income (loss) applicable to shares of common stock
for basic earnings per share
Add: Income effect of contingently issuable shares1

1

For the year ended May 31, 2006, net issuable common share equivalents totaling 2.8 million shares, and shares relating to our convertible securities and their
related income effect, totaling 8.0 million shares and $3.7 million, respectively, were not assumed in our computation of fully diluted earnings per share, since
the result would have been anti-dilutive.

21. Other Recent Accounting Pronouncements
On October 22, 2004 the American Jobs Creation Act of
2004 (“the Act”) was signed into law. Included in the Act is a
provision allowing, in general, a new special tax deduction
of up to 9% (once fully phased-in) of the lesser of 1)
“qualified production activities income” as defined in the
Act or 2) taxable income for the tax year, after deduction
for the utilization of any net operating loss carryforwards.
As a result of the new special tax deduction provision
included in the Act, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position
No. FAS 109-1, “Application of FASB Statement No. 109,
Accounting for Income Taxes, to the Tax Deduction on
Qualified Production Activities Provided by the American
Jobs Creation Act of 2004” (FSP 109-1) in December 2004.
FSP 109-1 provides that the new special tax deduction
created in the Act should be accounted for as a special
deduction in accordance with SFAS 109 and not as a tax
rate reduction.
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The effective date of the new special tax deduction included
in the Act is for tax years beginning after December 31,
2004. Accordingly, the new provision is first available to us
for our fiscal year ending May 31, 2006. The new special tax
deduction associated with qualified production activities
income has a slightly favorable effect on our annual
effective tax rate for this year.
Also included in the Act is a provision allowing corporate
taxpayers to claim a special one-time dividends received
deduction of certain foreign earnings that are repatriated
to the U.S. The new provision is applicable, given our
fiscal year-end, for qualifying repatriations made prior to
May 31, 2006.
We have not elected to repatriate funds and apply the onetime dividends received deduction. Accordingly, there is no
tax impact of the new special one-time dividends received
deduction in our results for this year.
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In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (Revised
2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“Statement 123(R)”).
Statement 123(R) requires that all share-based payments be
recognized in the financial statements based on their fair
values. The provisions of this statement are effective for
reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2005. We expect
to adopt Statement 123(R), utilizing the modifiedprospective method of accounting, on June 1, 2006. We
adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation,” on June 1, 2004, and began
expensing stock-based compensation on that date. As such,
our adoption of Statement 123(R) is not expected to have a
material impact on the results of our operations or financial
position, however, the total expense recorded in future
periods will depend on several variables, including the
number of share-based awards that vest and the fair values
of those vested awards.

including abnormal idle capacity expense and freight, be
recognized as expenses in the current period, and that the
amount of fixed production costs allocated to inventory be
based on the normal capacity of the production facilities.
The requirements of this statement are effective for fiscal
years beginning after June 15, 2005. The adoption of
Statement 151 is not expected to have a material impact on
the results of our operations or financial position.
In June 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, “Accounting
Changes and Error Corrections, a replacement of APB
Opinion No. 20 and FASB Statement No. 3.” SFAS No. 154
will become effective for accounting changes and
corrections of errors made in fiscal 2007 and beyond. The
impact of this statement on our Consolidated Financial
Statements will depend on the nature and significance of
future accounting changes which are subject to this
statement.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, “Inventory
Costs, an amendment to ARB No. 43, Chapter 4.” SFAS
No. 151 requires that certain abnormal expenditures,
NOTE B - BORROWINGS
A description of long-term debt follows:
May 31

2006

2005

Unsecured 4.45% senior notes due October 15, 2009.(1)

$189,993

$197,637

Unsecured 6.25% senior notes due December 15, 2013.

200,000

200,000

Unsecured $297,000 face value at maturity 2.75%
senior convertible notes due May 13, 2033.

150,042

150,042

(In thousands)

Unsecured 7.00% senior notes due June 15, 2005.

150,000

(2)

Unsecured notes due March 1, 2008. Interest, which is tied to LIBOR, averaged
4.99% at May 31, 2006.

100,000

Unsecured 6.70% senior notes due November 1, 2015.(3)

150,000

100,000

Unsecured senior notes due insurance companies: 6.61% due November 15, 2006(4)
in the amount of $10,000 and 7.30% due November 15, 2008 in the amount
of $30,000.

40,000

Revolving credit agreement for $330,000 with a syndicate of banks, through
November 19, 2009. Interest, which is tied to LIBOR, averaged 5.91% at May 31, 2006.

10,000

Accounts receivable securitization program for $125,000 with two banks, through
May 12, 2009. Interest averaged 5.05%.

25,000

Other obligations, including capital leases, and unsecured notes payable at various
rates of interest due in installments through 2011.

11,521

366

876,556

838,045

6,141

97

$870,415

$837,948

Less current portion
Total Long-Term Debt, Less Current Maturities

40,000

We entered into an interest rate swap which has the effect of converting this fixed rate note to variable rates based on the six-month London Interbank
Offered Rate (LIBOR). The weighted average effective rate was 5.83% as of May 31, 2006.
2 These obligations, which were refinanced on a long-term basis in June 2005, have been classified as long-term debt.
3 We entered into a cross-currency swap, which fixed the interest and principal payments in euros, resulting in an effective fixed rate borrowing of 5.31%.
4 These obligations, which were refinanced in July 2006, have been classified as long-term debt.
1
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The aggregate maturities of long-term debt for the five
years subsequent to May 31, 2006 are as follows: 2007 –
$6.1 million; 2008 – $251.3 million (including $150.0 million
of 2.75% Senior Convertible Notes based on the date of the
noteholders’ first put option); 2009 – $25.8 million; 2010 –
$240.5 million; 2011 – $0.3 million; 2012 and thereafter –
$352.6 million. Additionally, at May 31, 2006, we had unused
lines of credit totaling $405.7 million.
In June 2002, we established an accounts receivable
securitization program with several banks for certain of our
subsidiaries, providing for a wholly-owned special purpose
entity (“SPE”) to receive investments of up to $125.0 million.
The securitized accounts receivable are owned in their
entirety by RPM Funding Corporation, a wholly-owned
consolidated subsidiary of RPM International Inc., and are
not available to satisfy claims of our creditors until the
participating banks’ obligations have been paid in full.
This securitization is accomplished by having certain
subsidiaries sell various of their accounts receivable to the
SPE, and by having the SPE then transfer those receivables
to a conduit administered by two banks. This transaction
does not constitute a form of off-balance sheet financing,
and is fully reflected in our financial statements. This
transaction increased our liquidity and reduced our
financing costs by replacing up to $125.0 million of existing
borrowings at lower interest rates. The amounts available
under the program are subject to changes in the credit
ratings of our customers, customer concentration levels or
certain characteristics of the underlying accounts receivable.
In May 2006, we extended the program for an additional
three years through May 2009. In July 2006, we amended
this agreement, effective May 31, 2006, to redefine EBITDA.
As of May 31, 2006 we had $25.0 million outstanding
balance under this arrangement; there was no outstanding
balance at May 31, 2005.
In May 2003, we issued $297.0 million face value at maturity
unsecured 2.75% Senior Convertible Notes due May 13,
2033. The 2.75% Notes are convertible into 8,034,355 shares
of RPM International Inc. common stock at a price of
$18.68 per share, subject to adjustment, during any fiscal
quarter for which the closing price of the common stock is
greater than $22.41 per share for a defined duration of
time. The Notes are also convertible during any period in
which the credit rating of the Notes is below a specified
level or if specified corporate transactions have occurred.
We may redeem for cash all or a portion of the Notes at
any time on or after May 31, 2008. The 2.75% Notes are
redeemable by the holder for the issuance price plus accrued
original issue discount in May 2008, 2013, 2018, 2023, 2028
and 2033. Interest on the 2.75% Notes is payable beginning
November 13, 2003 until May 13, 2008. After that date, cash
interest will not be paid prior to maturity subject to certain
contingencies.
In December 2003, we issued and sold $200.0 million of
6.25% Senior Notes due 2013 as a means of refinancing. The
entire net proceeds of $197.0 million from this offering were
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used to repay in full the $128.0 million of then-outstanding
borrowings under our $500.0 million revolving credit facility
and $69.0 million of the then-outstanding $72.0 million
balance under our asset securitization program.
On September 30, 2004, we issued and sold $200.0 million
of 4.45% Senior Unsecured Notes due 2009, which we
concurrently swapped back to floating interest rate debt.
We used a portion of the net proceeds to pay off our
$15.0 million 6.12% Senior Notes due 2004, which matured
on November 15, 2004 and also our then-outstanding
$68.0 million of commercial paper. As of May 31, 2006
and 2005, the fair value of the interest-rate swap was
$10.0 million and $2.4 million, respectively. These amounts
are reflected in other long-term liabilities on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.
During November 2004, we entered into a $330.0 million
five-year revolving credit facility, due November 19, 2009.
This facility is used for general corporate purposes, including
acquisitions and to provide back-up liquidity for the issuance
of commercial paper. The facility provides for borrowings in
U.S. dollars and several foreign currencies and provides
sublimits for the issuance of letters of credit in an aggregate
amount of up to $25.0 million and a swing-line of up to
$20.0 million for short-term borrowings of less than 15 days.
In addition, the size of the facility may be expanded upon
our request by up to an additional $100.0 million, thus
potentially expanding the facility to $430.0 million, subject
to lender approval. In July 2006, we amended the credit
facility, effective May 31, 2006, to modify the definition of
EBITDA. As of May 31, 2006, we had $10.0 million
outstanding under the agreement.
On October 19, 2005, RPM United Kingdom G.P., an indirect
wholly-owned finance subsidiary of RPM International Inc.,
issued and sold $150 million of 6.70% Senior Unsecured
Notes due 2015, which are fully and unconditionally
guaranteed by RPM International Inc. The total net proceeds
of the offering of the Senior Unsecured Notes were used to
refinance $138 million of revolving credit facility borrowings
in conjunction with the August 31, 2005 acquisition of
illbruck Sealant Systems, and for other general corporate
purposes. Concurrent with the issuance of the 6.70% Senior
Unsecured Notes, RPM United Kingdom G.P. entered into a
cross-currency swap, which fixed the interest and principal
payments in euros for the life of the Senior Unsecured
Notes and resulted in an effective euro fixed rate borrowing
of 5.31%. As of May 31, 2006, the fair value of the crosscurrency swap was $13.9 million, which is reflected in other
long-term liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
On July 18, 2006, we prepaid our 6.61% Senior Notes, Series
B, due November 15, 2006, and our 7.30% Senior Notes,
Series C, due November 15, 2008 (collectively, the “Notes”).
We paid all amounts due pursuant to the terms of the
Purchase Agreement and did not incur any material early
termination penalties in connection with our termination of
the Notes.
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NOTE C - INCOME TAXES
The provision for income taxes is calculated in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” which requires
the recognition of deferred income taxes using the liability method.
Income (loss) before income taxes as shown in the consolidated statements of income consisted of the following:
Year Ended May 31

2006

2005

2004

$(181,282)
58,807

$115,192
48,536

$182,032
35,584

$(122,475)

$163,728

$217,616

2006

2005

2004

$ 35,035
7,232
22,771

$ 31,313
8,098
19,160

$ 30,579
7,138
14,260

65,038

58,571

51,977

(108,373)
(3,798)
863

(2,544)
(218)
2,887

21,077
3,011
(335)

(In thousands)

United States
Foreign
Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes

Provision (benefit) for income taxes consists of the following:

Year Ended May 31
(In thousands)

Current:
U.S. federal
State and local
Foreign

Deferred:
U.S. federal
State and local
Foreign

Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes

(111,308)

125

23,753

$ (46,270)

$ 58,696

$ 75,730

The significant components of deferred income tax assets and liabilities as of May 31, 2006 and 2005 were as follows:
2006

2005

(In thousands)

Deferred income tax assets related to:
Inventories
Allowance for losses
Accrued compensation and benefits
Asbestos-related liabilities
Accrued other expenses
Other long-term liabilities
Net operating loss and credit carryforwards
Other

$

4,322
5,511
14,560
151,478
7,986
28,183
33,647
3,284

$

2,983
7,077
7,892
36,964
6,768
25,780
33,131
2,972

248,971
(18,981)

123,567
(13,946)

Net deferred income tax assets

229,990

109,621

Deferred income tax (liabilities) related to:
Depreciation
Prepaid pension
Amortization of intangibles

(58,449)
(10,128)
(92,280)

(52,846)
(10,188)
(84,625)

Total deferred income tax (liabilities)

(160,857)

(147,659)

Deferred Income Tax Assets (Liabilities), Net

$ 69,133

$ (38,038)

Total deferred income tax assets

Less: valuation allowance
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At May 31, 2006, we had U.S. federal foreign tax credit
carryforwards of approximately $21.0 million which expire
starting in 2010. Additionally, we had foreign net operating
loss carryforwards of approximately $39.7 million at May 31,
2006 of which approximately $2.0 million expire at various
dates beginning in 2007 and approximately $37.7 million
which have an indefinite carryforward period. These net
operating loss and foreign tax credit carryforwards may be
used to offset a portion of future taxable income and
thereby reduce or eliminate our U.S. federal or foreign
income taxes otherwise payable.
Management has determined, based on the available
evidence, that it is uncertain that future taxable income of
certain of our foreign subsidiaries as well as anticipated

foreign source income will be significant enough to
recognize certain of these deferred tax assets. As a result, a
valuation allowance of approximately $19.0 million has been
recorded as of May 31, 2006.
The valuation allowance relates to U.S. federal foreign tax
credit carryforwards, certain foreign net operating losses
and net foreign deferred tax assets recorded in purchase
accounting. A portion of the valuation allowance is
associated with deferred tax assets recorded in purchase
accounting. Any reversal of the valuation allowance that
was recorded in purchase accounting would reduce
goodwill. In the current year, there was no reversal of
valuation allowance allocated to goodwill.

The following table reconciles income tax expense computed by applying the U.S. statutory federal income tax rate against
income (loss) before income taxes to the provision (benefit) for income tax expense:
Year Ended May 31

2006

2005

2004

(In thousands)

Income tax expense (benefit) at the U.S. statutory federal income tax rate
Impact of foreign operations
State and local income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit
Tax benefits from the extraterritorial income exclusion
Valuation allowance
Other

$(42,866)
(7,859)
2,232
(783)
4,760
(1,754)

$57,305
(7,810)
5,122
(754)
4,287
546

$76,166
(2,930)
6,597
(2,870)
278
(1,511)

Provision (Benefit) for Income Tax Expense

$(46,270)

$58,696

$75,730

35.8%

34.8%

Effective Income Tax Rate

NOTE D - COMMON STOCK
There were 300,000,000 shares of common stock authorized
at May 31, 2006 and 2005 with a par value of $0.01 per
share. At May 31, 2006 and 2005, there were 118,743,000
and 117,554,000 shares outstanding, respectively, each of
which is entitled to one vote.
Basic earnings per share are computed by dividing income
available to common stockholders by the weighted average
number of shares of common stock outstanding during each
year. To compute diluted earnings per share, the weighted
average number of shares of common stock outstanding
during each year was increased by common stock options
with exercisable prices lower than the average market prices
of common stock during each year and reduced by the
number of shares assumed to have been purchased with
proceeds from the exercised options. Additionally, shares
related to our convertible securities are also included in our
computation of fully diluted earnings per share. However,
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37.8%

for the year ended May 31, 2006, conversion of the net
issuable common share equivalents and the shares related to
our convertible securities were not included in our
calculation of diluted earnings per share, since the result
would have been anti-dilutive.
In October 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
ratified the consensus of the Emerging Issues Task Force (the
“EITF”) with respect to EITF issue 04-8, “The Effect of
Contingently Convertible Instruments on Diluted Earnings
Per Share.” The consensus requires us to consider all
instruments with contingent conversion features that
include a market price trigger in our diluted earnings per
share calculations, regardless of whether that market price
trigger has been met. Therefore, our calculation of fully
diluted earnings per share includes the 8,034,355 contingent
shares of our common stock related to our convertible debt,
which includes a market price trigger, by applying the “ifconverted” method.
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Effective October 10, 2003, the RPM International Inc. 2003
Restricted Stock Plan for Directors (the “2003 Plan”) was
approved by our stockholders. The plan was established
primarily for the purpose of recruiting and retaining
directors, and to align the interests of directors with the
interests of our stockholders. Only directors who are not
employees of RPM International Inc. are eligible to
participate. Under the 2003 Plan, up to 500,000 shares of
RPM International Inc. may be awarded. For the year ended
May 31, 2006, 20,000 shares were granted at a weightedaverage price of $17.65, with 438,400 shares available for
future grant. Unamortized deferred compensation expense
relating to restricted stock grants for directors of
$0.4 million at May 31, 2006, is being amortized over a
three-year vesting period.
On October 8, 2004, our stockholders approved the RPM
International Inc. Omnibus Equity and Incentive Plan (the
“Omnibus Plan”). The Omnibus Plan is intended to be the
primary stock-based award program for covered employees.
A wide variety of stock and stock-based awards, as well as
dollar-denominated performance-based awards, may be
granted under the Omnibus Plan. A total of 6,000,000 shares
of our common stock may be subject to awards under the
Omnibus Plan. Of the 6,000,000 shares of common stock
issuable under the Omnibus Plan, up to 3,000,000 shares
may be subject to “full-value” awards such as restricted
stock, restricted stock unit, performance stock and
performance stock unit awards. We also granted stock
appreciation rights (“SARs”) to employees. The SARs are
issued at fair value at the date of grant, have up to ten-year
terms and vest over four years. Currently all SARs
outstanding are to be settled with stock. For the year
ended May 31, 2006, 560,000 shares of SARs were granted
under the Omnibus Plan at a weighted-average grant price
of $17.65. As of May 31, 2006, there were 555,000 SARs
outstanding. In addition, we also granted 328,500 shares of
restricted stock under the Omnibus Plan at a weightedaverage grant price of $17.65. The restricted stock cliff vests
over three years. The unamortized deferred compensation
expense for the full-value awards as of May 31, 2006 was
$7.8 million. As of May 31, 2006, 4,790,000 shares are
available for future grant including 2,350,000 shares
available for full-value awards.

In addition to the restricted shares outstanding under the
Omnibus Plan, we have restricted shares outstanding under
two equity compensation plans for employees – the
Performance Accelerated Restricted Stock Plan (the “PARS
Plan”) and the 1997 Restricted Stock Plan (“1997 Plan”).
Under the terms of PARS Plan, up to 1,000,000 shares may
be awarded to certain employees, generally subject to
forfeiture until the completion of ten years of service or the
attainment of certain performance goals. No shares were
issued under the PARS Plan in 2006. Under the 1997 Plan, up
to 1,562,500 shares may be awarded to certain employees,
generally subject to forfeiture. The shares vest upon the
latter of attainment of age 55 and the fifth anniversary of
the May 31st immediately preceeding the date of the grant.
For the year ended May 31, 2006, 37,778 shares were
awarded under the 1997 Plan at a weighted average price of
$18.79. At May 31, 2006, 68,400 shares were vested in this
plan (59,500 at May 31, 2005) subject to certain resale
restrictions. Unamortized deferred compensation expense at
May 31, 2006 of $3.2 million relating to the PARS Plan is
being amortized over a ten-year period, and $0.4 million
relating to the 1997 Plan is being amortized over the
applicable vesting periods.
Gross compensation expense relating to restricted stock
awards for the years ended May 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
was $3.6 million, $1.9 million and $1.3 million, respectively.
Our Shareholder Rights Plan provides existing stockholders
the right to purchase stock of RPM International Inc. at a
discount in certain circumstances as defined by the Plan.
The rights are not exercisable at May 31, 2006 and expire
in May 2009.
We have options outstanding under two stock option plans,
the 1989 Stock Option Plan and the 1996 Key Employees
Stock Option Plan, the latter of which provides for the
granting of options for up to 9,000,000 shares. Stock options
are granted to employees and directors at an exercise price
equal to the fair market value of RPM International Inc.
stock at the date of grant. These options are generally
exercisable cumulatively in equal annual installments
commencing one year from the grant date, and have
expiration dates ranging from October 2006 to October
2014. At May 31, 2006 and 2005, 64,247 shares were
available for future grant.
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The following table summarizes option activity under the Plans during the last three fiscal years:
2006

Shares Under Option

2005

2004

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Number
of Shares
Under
Option

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Number
of Shares
Under
Option

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Number
of Shares
Under
Option

$13.90

6,764

$13.23

7,403

$12.86

6,937

17.60

584

14.10

1,254

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Outstanding, beginning of year
(Prices ranging from $8.69 to $17.63)
Options granted
(Prices ranging from $15.15 to $17.63)
Options canceled/expired
(Prices ranging from $9.26 to $17.63)
Options exercised
(Prices ranging from $8.69 to $17.63)

14.06

(77)

13.57

(76)

12.98

(206)

12.93

(823)

11.53

(1,147)

10.73

(582)

Outstanding, end of year
(Prices ranging from $8.69 to $17.63)

$14.03

5,864

$13.90

6,764

$13.23

7,403

Exercisable, end of year
(Prices ranging from $8.69 to $17.63)

$13.68

4,585

$13.41

4,578

$13.15

4,775

Options Outstanding
at May 31, 2006
(Shares in thousands)

Options Exercisable
at May 31, 2006

Exercise Price Range

Shares

Wtd. Avg.
Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

$ 8.69 to $ 9.99
$10.00 to $11.99
$12.00 to $14.99
$15.00 to $16.99
$17.00 to $17.63

798
151
2,682
1,664
569

4.3
5.3
6.1
1.7
8.3

$ 9.33
$10.26
$14.03
$15.39
$17.62

798
151
1,829
1,661
146

$ 9.33
$10.26
$14.00
$15.39
$17.62

5,864

4.8

$14.03

4,585

$13.68

We apply Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” for our
stock-based employee compensation plans. As outlined in SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation - Transition
and Disclosure,” we chose to apply the modified prospective method in adopting this accounting change. Under this method,
stock-based employee compensation expense in fiscal 2006 is the same as that which would have been recognized had the fair
value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 been applied to account for all employee awards from its original effective date.
Results of prior periods have not been restated. See Note A, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” for the pro forma
disclosures of net income and earnings per share required under SFAS No. 123 for fiscal year ended May 31, 2004.
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NOTE E - LEASES

NOTE F - PENSION PLANS

We lease certain property, plant and equipment under longterm lease agreements, some of which provide for increased
rental payments based upon increases in the cost-of-living
index. The following table illustrates our future minimum
lease commitments under all non-cancelable lease
agreements, for each of the next five years and in the
aggregate, as of May 31, 2006:

We sponsor several pension plans for our employees,
including our principal plan (the “Retirement Plan”), which
is a non-contributory defined benefit pension plan covering
substantially all domestic non-union employees. Pension
benefits are provided for certain domestic union employees
through separate plans. Employees of our foreign
subsidiaries receive pension coverage, to the extent deemed
appropriate, through plans which are governed by local
statutory requirements. The measurement date used to
determine pension benefit measurements for both the U.S.
and Non-U.S. plans was February 28, 2006.

May 31
(In thousands)

2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
Thereafter

$27,524
21,276
13,076
8,622
5,304
13,410

Total Minimum Lease Commitments

$89,212

Total rental expense for all operating leases amounted
to $26.8 million in 2006, $29.4 million in 2005, and
$27.1 million in 2004.

The Retirement Plan provides benefits that are based upon
years of service and average compensation with accrued
benefits vesting after five years. Benefits for union
employees are generally based upon years of service, or
years of service and average compensation. Our funding
policy is to contribute an amount on an annual basis that
can be deducted for federal income tax purposes, using a
different actuarial cost method and different assumptions
from those used for financial reporting. For the fiscal year
ending May 31, 2007, we expect to contribute
approximately $11.9 million to the Retirement Plans in the
U.S., in addition to the approximate $4.1 million that we
expect to contribute to our foreign plans.

Net periodic pension cost (income) consisted of the following for the three years ended May 31, 2006:
U.S. Plans
(In thousands)

2006

2005

Non-U.S. Plans
2004

Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Amortization of:
Prior service cost
Net gain on adoption of SFAS No. 87
Net actuarial losses recognized

$13,270
8,245
(10,108)

$11,231
7,481
(9,759)

$ 9,879
7,228
(7,385)

194
(2)
2,375

294
(3)
1,500

294
(23)
2,542

Net Pension Cost

$13,974

$10,744

$12,535

2006

2005

2004

$2,475
4,741
(4,599)

$2,154
4,359
(4,117)

$1,695
3,612
(3,188)

1,511

1,394

1,237

$4,128

$3,790

$3,356
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The changes in benefit obligations and plan assets, as well as the funded status of our pension plans at May 31, 2006 and 2005,
were as follows:
U.S. Plans
(In thousands)

44

2006

Non-U.S. Plans
2005

Benefit obligation at beginning of year
Service cost
Interest cost
Benefits paid
Participant contributions
Acquisitions and new plans
Plan amendments
Actuarial losses
Currency exchange rate changes

$148,505
13,270
8,245
(9,627)

1,276

10,857

Benefit Obligation at End of Year

$161,669

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year
Actual return on plan assets
Employer contributions
Participant contributions
Acquisitions and new plans
Benefits paid
Currency exchange rate changes

$118,091
13,591
8,213

Fair Value of Plan Assets at End of Year

$130,268

Benefit obligations in excess of plan assets
at end of year
Contributions after measurement date
Unrecognized actuarial losses
Unrecognized prior service cost
Unrecognized net transitional asset

2005

$ 89,190
2,475
4,741
(3,067)
773
1,230
258
9,997
(1,884)

$ 77,533
2,154
4,359
(2,723)
681

$148,505

$103,713

$ 89,190

$109,920
5,031
12,870

$ 65,923
8,015
2,661
773
119
(3,067)
(1,442)

$ 56,377
4,316
3,642
681

$118,091

$ 72,982

$ 65,923

$ (31,401)
1,941
43,409
2,352

$ (30,414)
4
47,992
2,546
(2)

$ (30,731)
1,268
33,147
232

$(23,267)
183
28,826

Net Amount Recognized

$ 16,301

$ 20,126

$

3,916

$ 5,742

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets:
Prepaid benefit cost
Accrued benefit liability
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Intangible asset

$ 16,672
(848)
468
9

$ 20,369
(755)
481
31

$

(19,019)
22,935

$ 8,676
(11,260)
8,326

(9,627)

$128,666
11,231
7,481
(9,730)

2006

(9,730)

2,487
4,699

(2,723)
3,630

Net Amount Recognized

$ 16,301

$ 20,126

$

3,916

$ 5,742

Accumulated Benefit Obligation

$125,208

$114,553

$ 92,784

$ 76,706
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The following table summarizes the relationship between our plans’ benefit obligations and assets.
U.S. Plans
2006

(In thousands)

Plans with projected benefit
obligation in excess of plan assets
Plans with accumulated benefit
obligation in excess of plan assets
Plans with assets in excess of
projected benefit obligations
Plans with assets in excess of
accumulated benefit obligations

2005

Benefit
Obligation

Plan
Assets

Benefit
Obligation

Plan
Assets

$161,669

$130,268

$145,633

$114,840

$

1,866

$

987

$

1,757

$

998

$

-

$

-

$

2,872

$

3,251

$123,342

$129,281

$112,796

$117,093

Non-U.S. Plans
2006

(In thousands)

Plans with projected benefit
obligation in excess of plan assets
Plans with accumulated benefit
obligation in excess of plan assets
Plans with assets in excess of
accumulated benefit obligations

2005

Benefit
Obligation

Plan
Assets

Benefit
Obligation

Plan
Assets

$103,713

$ 72,982

$ 89,190

$ 65,923

$ 92,784

$ 72,982

$ 48,839

$ 37,396

$

$

$ 27,867

$ 28,527

-

-

To develop the expected long-term rate of return on pension plan assets assumption, we consider the current and expected
target asset allocations of the pension portfolio, as well as historical returns and future expectations for returns on various
categories of plan assets. The following weighted average assumptions were used to determine our year-end benefit
obligations and net periodic pension cost under the plans:
U.S. Plans
Year-End Benefit Obligations
Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase

Non-U.S. Plans

2006

2005

2004

2006

2005

2004

5.75%
3.73%

5.75%
3.50%

6.00%
3.50%

4.89%
3.39%

5.40%
3.63%

5.65%
3.48%

U.S. Plans
Net Periodic Pension Cost
Discount rate
Expected return on plan assets
Rate of compensation increase

Non-U.S. Plans

2006

2005

2004

2006

2005

2004

5.75%
8.75%
3.50%

6.00%
8.75%
3.50%

6.70%
8.75%
4.00%

5.40%
6.93%
3.63%

5.68%
7.31%
3.66%

6.43%
7.25%
3.95%

The following tables illustrate the weighted average actual and target allocation of plan assets:
Non-U.S. Plans

U.S. Plans

Target Allocation
as of February 2006
Equity securities
Fixed income securities
Cash
Other
Total assets

Actual Asset
Allocation
2006

2005

5%

65%
20%
10%
5%

70%
16%
9%
5%

100%

100%

100%

70%
25%

Equity securities
Fixed income securities
Cash
Property and other
Total assets

Actual Asset
Allocation

Target Allocation
as of February 2006

2006

2005

55%
43%

51%
47%

2%

2%

58%
36%
2%
4%

100%

100%

100%

RPM International Inc. and Subsidiaries

45

notes to consolidated financial statements

The primary objective for the investments of the Retirement
Plan is to provide for long-term growth of capital without
undue exposure to risk. This is accomplished by utilizing a
strategy of equities, fixed income securities and cash
equivalents in a mix that is conducive to participation in a
rising market while allowing for adequate protection in a
falling market. The Plan Investment Committee oversees the
investment allocation process, which includes the selection
and evaluation of investment managers, the determination
of investment objectives and risk guidelines, and the
monitoring of actual investment performance. In order to
properly manage investment risk, plan policy prohibits short
selling, securities lending, financial futures, options and
other specialized investments except for certain alternative
investments specifically approved by the Investment
Committee. The Investment Committee reviews, on a
quarterly basis, reports of actual plan investment
performance provided by independent third parties, in
addition to their review of the plan investment policy on an
annual basis.

The investment objectives are similar with regard to our
plans outside the U.S., subject to local regulations. In
general, investments are managed by private investment
managers, reporting to our Investment Committee on a
regular basis.
In addition to the defined benefit pension plans discussed
above, we also sponsor employee savings plans under
Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code, which cover
most employees in the United States. We record expense
for defined contribution plans for any employer matching
contributions made in conjunction with services rendered
by employees. The majority of our plans provide for
matching contributions based upon qualified employee
contributions. Matching contributions are invested in the
same manner that the participants invest their own
contributions. Matching contributions charged to income
were $8.6 million, $8.2 million and $7.8 million for years
ending May 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
We expect to pay the following estimated pension benefit
payments in the next five years (in millions): $10.9 in 2007;
$12.4 in 2008; $13.8 in 2009; $14.3 in 2010; $15.6 in 2011.
In the five years thereafter (2012-2016) we expect to pay
$102.5 million.

NOTE G - POSTRETIREMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS
We sponsor several unfunded health care benefit plans for certain of our retired employees. Eligibility for these benefits is
based upon minimum age and service requirements. The following table illustrates the effect on operations of these plans for
the three years ended May 31, 2006:
U.S. Plans
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Non-U.S. Plans

(In thousands)

2006

2005

2004

2006

2005

2004

Service cost - Benefits earned during this period
Interest cost on the accumulated obligation
Amortization of prior service cost
Amortization of unrecognized (gains) losses

$ 615
(27)
59

$ 11
661

$ 11
634

$365
539

$265
473

$205
396

47

28

Net Periodic Postretirement Expense

$647

$699

$645

$951

$766

RPM International Inc. and Subsidiaries

27

$601

notes to consolidated financial statements

The changes in the benefit obligations of the plans at May 31, 2006 and 2005 were as follows:
U.S. Plans
2006

(In thousands)

Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation
at beginning of year
Service cost
Interest cost
Benefit payments
Actuarial (gains) losses
Amendments
Currency exchange rate changes

Non-U.S. Plans
2005

$11,169

$11,465
11
661
(1,013)
353
(308)

615
(849)
(1,488)
(13)

2006

2005

$8,331
365
539
(190)
1,068

$6,815
265
473
(122)
333

711

Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation at end of year
Unrecognized actuarial gains (losses)
Unrecognized prior service cost (benefit)

9,434
(249)
294

11,169
(1,796)
308

$ 9,479

Accrued Postretirement Health Care Benefits

$ 9,681

567

10,824
(2,695)

8,331
(1,542)

$8,129

$6,789

In determining the postretirement benefit amounts outlined above, measurement dates as of May 31 for each period were
applied.
The following weighted average assumptions were used to determine our year-end benefit obligations and net periodic
postretirement benefit costs under the plans:
U.S. Plans
Year-End Benefit Obligations
Discount rate
Current healthcare cost trend rate
Ultimate healthcare cost trend rate
Year ultimate healthcare cost trend
rate will be realized

Non-U.S. Plans

2006

2005

2004

2006

2005

2004

6.00%
9.50%
5.00%

5.75%
10.00%
5.00%

6.00%
10.00%
5.00%

5.50%
7.00%
5.00%

6.00%
8.00%
5.00%

6.25%
9.00%
5.00%

2015

2015

2014

2008

2008

2008

U.S. Plans
Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost
Discount rate
Healthcare cost trend rate
Ultimate healthcare cost trend rate
Year ultimate healthcare cost trend
rate will be realized

Non-U.S. Plans

2006

2005

2004

2006

2005

2004

5.75%
10.00%
5.00%

6.00%
10.00%
5.00%

6.70%
9.00%
5.00%

6.00%
8.00%
5.00%

6.25%
9.00%
5.00%

7.00%
9.00%
5.00%

2015

2014

2007

2008

2008

2007

Increasing or decreasing current healthcare cost trend rates by 1% would affect accumulated postretirement benefit obligation
and net postretirement expense by the following amounts for the years ended May 31, 2006 and 2005:
U.S. Plans
(In thousands)

Non-U.S. Plans

2006

2005

2006

2005

$ 808
55

$ 950
60

$ 2,408
211

$ 1,617
163

$(708)
(49)

$(830)
(50)

$(1,844)
(151)

$(1,262)
(123)

1% Increase in trend rate

Accumulated Benefit Obligation
Postretirement Cost
1% Decrease in trend rate

Accumulated Benefit Obligation
Postretirement Cost

We expect to pay approximately $1.0 million in estimated postretirement benefits in each of the next five years. In the five
years thereafter (2012-2016) we expect to pay $5.9 million.
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In connection with the Medicare Prescription Drug
Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003, we are
expected to receive a federal subsidy amounting to
approximately $1.8 million to subsidize the prescription drug
coverage provided by the U.S. nonpension postretirement
benefit plan over a period of approximately 10 years
beginning in 2006. We will utilize the subsidy for the
purpose of reducing both employer and participant
contributions for prescription drug related coverage. We
expect to begin receiving this subsidy in calendar 2006.
In accordance with the provision of FASB Staff Position FSP
FAS 106-2, “Accounting and Disclosure Requirements
Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement
and Modernization Act of 2003,” we have included the
impact of our portion of the subsidy in the determination of
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation for the U.S.
nonpension postretirement benefit plan for the period
ended May 31, 2006, the measurement date. The impact of
the subsidy resulted in a reduction in the benefit obligation
of approximately $2.2 million with a $0.3 million decrease in
net periodic cost in fiscal 2006.
We reflected the impact of the Act for the first time in the
fiscal year end 2005 accumulated postretirement benefit
obligation (“APBO”) and the fiscal year end 2006 net
periodic postretirement expense. We reflected the change in
the APBO as an actuarial gain in accordance with FASB Staff
Position No. FAS 106-2. As of May 31, 2006, we have not
received any reimbursements from Medicare. We expect to
begin recovering payments on a quarterly basis beginning in
late 2006.

NOTE H - CONTINGENCIES AND LOSS RESERVES
Accrued loss reserves and asbestos-related liabilities consist
of the following:
May 31

2006

2005

$ 53,764
7,524
5,390

$ 57,414
5,822
2,216

66,678
58,925

65,452
55,000

$125,603

$120,452

$ 14,758

$

(In thousands)

Accrued product liability reserves
Accrued warranty reserves
Accrued environmental reserves
Accrued loss reserves - current
Asbestos-related liabilities - current
Total Reserves - Current

Accrued warranty and product
liability reserves - noncurrent
Asbestos-related liabilities noncurrent
Total Reserves - Noncurrent
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8,044

362,360

46,172

$377,118

$ 54,216

We provide, through our wholly-owned insurance
subsidiaries, certain insurance coverage, primarily product
liability, to our other subsidiaries. Excess coverage is
provided by third party insurers. Our reserves provide for
these potential losses as well as other uninsured claims.
Product warranty expense is recorded within selling, general
and administrative expense. As of May 31, 2006, the current
portion of these reserves amounted to $53.8 million as
compared with $57.4 million at May 31, 2005, while the
total long-term reserves increased to $13.3 million at May
31, 2006 from $6.8 million at May 31, 2005, primarily as a
result of our continuing evaluation of our liability under a
class action lawsuit settlement covering our Dryvit
residential exterior insulated finish systems product line
(“EIFS”). Based upon the final court order approving the
national class action settlement and Dryvit’s claims
experience to date, Dryvit determined that a $11.9 million
increase to its existing reserves was necessary and
appropriate to fully cover the anticipated costs of the
settlement. It is anticipated that $5.0 million of this reserve
increase will be recovered from third-party insurance carriers
and accordingly, insurance receivables were increased by
that amount. Third-party excess insurers have historically
paid varying shares of Dryvit’s defense and settlement costs
for individual commercial and residential EIFS lawsuits under
various cost-sharing agreements. Dryvit has increasingly
assumed a greater share of the costs associated with its
EIFS litigation as it seeks funding commitments from our
third-party excess insurers and will likely continue to do so
pending the outcome of coverage litigation involving these
same third-party insurers. One of our excess insurers filed
suit seeking a declaration with respect to its rights and
obligations for EIFS related claims under its applicable
policies. During the third quarter, the court granted Dryvit’s
motion to stay the federal filing based on a more complete
state court complaint filed against these same insurers and
our insurance broker. The coverage case will now proceed in
state court.
Certain of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, principally Bondex
International, Inc. (collectively referred to as the
subsidiaries), are defendants in various asbestos-related
bodily injury lawsuits filed in various state courts with the
vast majority of current claims pending in five states –
Illinois, Ohio, Mississippi, Texas and Florida. These cases
generally seek unspecified damages for asbestos-related
diseases based on alleged exposures to asbestos-containing
products previously manufactured by our subsidiaries.
Our subsidiaries vigorously defend these asbestos-related
lawsuits and in many cases, the plaintiffs are unable to
demonstrate that any injuries they have incurred, in fact,
resulted from exposure to one of our subsidiaries’ products.
In such cases, the subsidiaries are generally dismissed
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without payment. With respect to those cases where
compensable disease, exposure and causation are
established with respect to one of our subsidiaries’ products,
the subsidiaries generally settle for amounts that reflect the
confirmed disease, the particular jurisdiction, applicable law,
the number and solvency of other parties in the case and
various other factors which may influence the settlement
value each party assigns to a particular case at the time.
As of May 31, 2006, our subsidiaries had a total of 10,580
active asbestos cases compared to a total of 8,646 cases as of
May 31, 2005. For the quarter ended May 31, 2006, our
subsidiaries secured dismissals and/or settlements of 106
claims and made total payments of $12.9 million, which
included defense costs paid during the current quarter of
$7.1 million. For the comparable period ended May 31, 2005,
dismissals and/or settlements covered 305 claims and total
payments were $11.1 million, which included defense costs
paid during the quarter of $8.1 million. For the year ended
May 31, 2006, our subsidiaries secured dismissals and/or
settlements of 945 claims and made total payments of
$59.9 million, which included defense costs paid during the
current year of $24.0 million. For the comparable period
ended May 31, 2005, dismissals and/or settlements covered
982 claims and total payments were $67.4 million, which
included defense costs paid during the year of $20.8 million.
In some jurisdictions, cases may involve more than one
individual claimant. As a result, settlement or dismissal
statistics on a per case basis are not necessarily reflective of
the payment amounts on a per claimant basis and the
amounts and rates can vary widely depending on a variety
of factors including the mix of malignancy and nonmalignancy claims and the amount of defense costs incurred
during the period.
The rate at which plaintiffs filed asbestos-related suits
against our subsidiaries, particularly Bondex, increased since
the fourth fiscal quarter of 2002, influenced by the
bankruptcy filings of numerous other defendants in
asbestos-related litigation. Based on the significant increase
in asbestos claims activity, which in many cases
disproportionately increased Bondex’s exposure in joint and
several liability law states, our third-party insurance was
depleted within the first fiscal quarter of 2004. Our thirdparty insurers historically had been responsible, under
various cost-sharing arrangements, for the payment of
approximately 90% of the indemnity and defense costs
associated with our asbestos litigation. Prior to this sudden
precipitous increase in loss rates, the combination of book
loss reserves and insurance coverage was expected to
adequately cover asbestos claims for the foreseeable future.
We have reserved our rights with respect to several of our
third-party insurers’ claims of exhaustion, and in late
calendar 2002 commenced a review of our known insurance
policies to determine whether other insurance limits may be
available to cover our asbestos liabilities.

As a result of an examination of our subsidiaries’ historical
insurance and as previously disclosed, certain of our
subsidiaries filed a complaint in July 2003 for declaratory
judgment, breach of contract and bad faith against various
third-party insurers, challenging their assertion that their
policies covering asbestos-related claims have been
exhausted. The coverage litigation involves, among other
matters, insurance coverage for claims arising out of alleged
exposure to asbestos containing products manufactured by
the previous owner of Bondex before March 1, 1966. On
March 1, 1966, Republic Powdered Metals Inc. (as it was
known then), purchased the assets and assumed the
liabilities of the previous owner of Bondex, which
subsequently dissolved and was never a subsidiary of
Republic Powdered Metals, Bondex, RPM, Inc. or the
Company. Because of the earlier assumption of liabilities,
however, Bondex has historically and must continue to
respond to lawsuits alleging exposure to these asbestos
containing products. The Company discovered that the
defendant insurance companies in the coverage litigation
had wrongfully used cases alleging exposure to these pre1966 products to erode their aggregate limits. This conduct,
apparently known by the insurance industry based on
discovery conducted to date, was in breach of the insurers’
policy language. While this pending litigation could, in the
future, result in third party coverage for a substantial
amount of these future asbestos claims, the Company has
not considered any such future recovery in determining the
scope and amount of its reserve for future unknown
asbestos claims. Two of the defendant insurers have filed
counterclaims seeking to recoup certain monies should the
plaintiffs prevail on their claims. Pursuant to a revised case
management order, the parties are to complete fact
discovery by August 4, 2006 (fact discovery was substantially
completed in accordance with a previous order by July 14,
2006), expert discovery by November 17, 2006, and
dispositive motions by no later than December 29, 2006,
with replies due no later than March 16, 2007. A trial date
was previously set for January 29, 2007. Although the most
recent case management order did not change the
scheduled trial date, the changes to the discovery and
dispositive motion deadlines will necessarily postpone
the trial date, likely until the end of the fiscal year. It is
possible that this and other dates may be modified as the
case progresses.
We are unable at the present time to predict the timing or
ultimate outcome of this insurance coverage litigation.
Consequently, we are unable to predict whether, or to what
extent, any additional insurance may be available to cover a
portion of our subsidiaries’ asbestos liabilities. We have not
included any potential benefits from this litigation either in
our financial statements or in calculating our current
asbestos reserve. Our wholly-owned captive insurance
companies have not provided any insurance or reinsurance
coverage for any of our subsidiaries’ asbestos-related claims.
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During the last seven months of 2003, new state liability
laws were enacted in three states (Mississippi, Ohio and
Texas) where at that time more than 80% of the claims
against Bondex were pending. The changes generally
provided for liability to be determined on a “proportional
cause” basis, thereby limiting Bondex’s responsibility to only
its share of the alleged asbestos exposure. During the third
and fourth fiscal quarters of 2004, two of the three
previously mentioned states that adopted “proportional
cause” liability in 2003 passed additional legislation
impacting medical criteria and product identification in
asbestos-related litigation. While there have been some
changes in the type of claims filed in certain of these states,
the ultimate influence these law changes will have on future
claims activity and settlement values is still developing.
Claim filings in these three states at the quarter ended May
31, 2006, coupled with the non-malignancy filings in Florida,
currently comprise approximately 73% of the total
aggregate claims filed against Bondex.
At the end of 2002 and through the third fiscal quarter of
2003, Bondex had concluded it was not possible to estimate
the cost of disposing all of the asbestos-related claims that
might be filed against Bondex in the future due to a number
of reasons, including its lack of sufficient comparable loss
history from which to assess either the number or value of
any future asbestos-related claims. As previously disclosed,
during the fourth fiscal quarter of 2003, Bondex retained a
consulting firm to assist in analyzing its loss history data, to
evaluate whether it would be possible to estimate the cost
of disposing pending claims in light of both past and recent
loss history, and to assist in determining whether future
asbestos-related claims reasonably expected to be filed
against Bondex were measurable, given recent changes in
various state laws and the prospect of potential federal
asbestos-related legislation. Bondex provided these
consultants with all relevant data regarding asbestos-related
claims filed against Bondex through May 31, 2003. At the
time, management concluded, with the consultants’ input,
that it was not possible to estimate the full range of the cost
of resolving all future asbestos-related claims against
Bondex because of the uncertainties associated with the
litigation of those claims.
Estimating the future cost of asbestos related claims was
and continues to be subject to many uncertainties, including
(i) the ultimate number of claims filed; (ii) the cost of
resolving both current known and future unknown claims;
(iii) the amount of insurance, if any, available to cover such
claims, including the outcome of coverage litigation against
the subsidiaries’ third party insurers; (iv) future earnings and
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cash flow of our subsidiaries; (v) the impact of bankruptcies
of other companies whose share of liability may be imposed
on our subsidiaries under certain state liability laws; (vi) the
unpredictable aspects of the litigation process including a
changing trial docket and the jurisdictions in which trials are
scheduled; (vii) the outcome of any such trials including
judgments or jury verdicts, as a result of our more aggressive
defense posture which includes taking selective cases to
verdict; (viii) the lack of specific information in many cases
concerning exposure to the subsidiaries’ products and the
claimants’ diseases; (ix) potential changes in applicable
federal and/or state law; and (x) the potential impact of
various proposed structured settlement transactions or
subsidiary bankruptcies by other companies, some of which
are the subject of federal appellate court review, the
outcome of which could materially affect any future
asbestos-related liability estimates. In addition to the
foregoing, ongoing debate in the Senate concerning the
establishment of a trust fund to pay future asbestos related
claims and remove such cases from federal and state courts
with industry and insurers funding the trust continues to be
a significant variable that makes it increasingly difficult to
predict with certainty the full exposure of future, unknown
asbestos-related claims.
Based on the foregoing considerations, at May 31, 2003, we
concluded that we could not fully estimate the liability that
would result from all future asbestos claims. We established
a reserve for those pending cases that had progressed to a
stage where the cost to dispose of these cases could, at the
time, reasonably be estimated, as well as a $51.2 million
provision for future unasserted claims that were estimable
at May 31, 2003. The estimation of even pending cases was
and is always difficult due to the dynamic nature of asbestos
litigation including the variables discussed above. As
described below, the estimated range of potential loss
covering measurable known asbestos claims and this
provision for future claims that were estimable at May 31,
2003 was $140.0 million to $145.0 million. Accordingly, we
established a reserve equal to the lower end of this range of
potential loss by taking an asbestos charge to fiscal 2003
operations of $140.0 million. At the time of the reserve, we
believed that this asbestos reserve would be sufficient to
cover asbestos-related cash flow requirements over the
estimated three-year life of the reserve. The $140.0 million
charge also included $15.0 million in total projected defense
costs over the estimated three-year life of the reserve. By
comparison, Bondex’s share of costs (net of then-available
third-party insurance) for asbestos-related product liability
was $6.7 million and $2.8 million for the years ended May
31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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Since May 31, 2003, we have reviewed and evaluated on a
quarterly basis the adequacy of our asbestos reserve. The
range of loss calculation for the $140 million reserve was
based on an extensive analysis of the most critical factors
that influence our asbestos-related costs including: (i) the
gross number of open malignancy claims (principally
mesothelioma claims) as these claims have the most
significant impact on our asbestos settlement costs;
(ii) historical and current settlement costs and dismissal
rates by various categories; (iii) analysis of the jurisdiction
and governing law of the states in which these claims are
pending; and (iv) outside defense counsel’s opinions and
recommendations with respect to the merits of such claims.
Although the number of open malignancy claims has since
increased, our average settlement costs for these claims
have declined and dismissal rates have increased. Several
favorable verdicts during the past two fiscal years have
further contributed to lower settlement values and
higher dismissal rates. Our defense costs, however, have
increased significantly as a result of this more aggressive
defense strategy.
Based on our review of our asbestos reserve for the second
quarter ending November 30, 2004, we concluded that
an increase in our reserve was appropriate and recorded
an asbestos reserve adjustment of $47.0 million for the
quarter ended November 30, 2004, which we believed
would be sufficient to cover any incremental cash flow
requirements through fiscal 2006 not covered by the
$140.0 million reserve, as well as the additional cash flow
requirements for the balance of our then pending known
claims and anticipated higher defense costs. Approximately
$32.0 million of the $47.0 million reserve adjustment was
allocated to anticipated higher future defense costs.
Consistent with this methodology, additional asbestos
reserves were taken for the third and fourth quarters of
fiscal 2005 and in each of the first three quarters of
fiscal 2006.
For the third quarter ended February 28, 2006, the
additional asbestos reserve amounted to $15.0 million based
on management’s quarterly review of pending claims and
defense costs. This reserve adjustment put our total asbestos
reserves at approximately $99.2 million, which we believed
would be sufficient to cover the cash flow requirements for
the balance of our pending known claims and defense costs.
Our $15.0 million reserve increase was based on our
experience for the third quarter and our valuation of our
known existing claims. Approximately $7.7 million of the
$15.0 million reserve adjustment was allocated to
anticipated higher future defense costs.

As part of our ongoing assessment of our asbestos liability
exposure, during the third quarter we also considered
whether (i) our recent verdict experience, (ii) venue reforms,
(iii) medical criteria requirements, (iv) proportionate share
liability and other known tort reforms provided sufficient
relevant and reliable information to reasonably estimate
our future liability for asbestos-related claims. Accordingly,
as previously disclosed, in the third quarter, we retained
Crawford & Winiarski (“C&W”), an independent, third-party
consulting firm with expertise in the area of asbestos
valuation work, to assist us in calculating an estimate
of our liability for unasserted potential future asbestosrelated claims.
The methodology used by C&W to project our liability for
unasserted potential future asbestos-related claims included
C&W doing an analysis of (a) widely accepted forecast of
the population likely to have been exposed to asbestos;
(b) epidemiological studies estimating the number of people
likely to develop asbestos-related diseases; (c) historical rate
at which mesothelioma incidences resulted in the payment
of claims by us; (d) historical settlement averages to value
the projected number of future compensable mesothelioma
claims; (e) historical ratio of mesothelioma related indemnity
payments to non-mesothelioma indemnity payments; and
(f) historical defense costs and their relationship with total
indemnity payments.
As a result, at the end of the fiscal 2006 fourth quarter, we
increased our reserve for asbestos claims by approximately
$335.0 million, while paying out the $12.9 million for
dismissals and/or settlements resulting in our reserve moving
from $99.2 million at February 28, 2006 to $421.3 million at
May 31, 2006. This reserve increase is based upon C&W’s
analysis of our total estimated liability for pending and
unasserted potential future claims through May 31, 2016.
This amount was calculated on a pre-tax basis and was not
discounted for the time value of money. In light of the
uncertainties inherent in making long-term projections, we
have determined that the ten-year period through 2016 is
the most reasonable time period over which reasonably
accurate estimates might still be made for projecting
asbestos liabilities and defense costs and, accordingly, the
reserve does not include asbestos liabilities for any period
past 2016.
In determining the amount of our asbestos reserves, we
relied on assumptions that are based on currently known
facts and projection models. Our actual expenses could be
significantly higher or lower than those recorded if
assumptions used in our or C&W’s calculations vary
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significantly from actual results. Key variables in these
assumptions include the period of exposure to asbestos
claims, the number and type of new claims to be filed each
year, the rate at which mesothelioma incidences result in
compensable claims against us, the average cost of disposing
of each such new claim, the dismissal rates each year and the
related annual defense costs. Furthermore, predictions with
respect to these variables are subject to greater uncertainty
as the projection period lengthens. A significant upward or
downward trend in the number of claims filed, depending
on the nature of the alleged injury; the jurisdiction where
filed; the average cost of resolving each such claim and the
quality of the product identification, could change our
estimated liability, as could any substantial adverse verdict at
trial. A federal legislative solution, further state tort reform
or structured settlement transaction could also change the
estimated liability.
Subject to the foregoing variables, based on currently
available data and upon the analysis of C&W, we believe
that our current asbestos reserves are sufficient to cover
asbestos-related cash flow requirements for our known
pending and unasserted potential future asbestos-related
claims. However, given the uncertainties associated with
projecting matters into the future and numerous other
factors outside of our control, we believe that it is
reasonably possible we may incur asbestos liabilities for the
period through 2016 and beyond in excess of the C&W

projection and our recorded reserve. While it is reasonably
possible that such excess liabilities could be material to
operating results in any given quarter or year, we do not
believe that it is reasonably possible that such excess
liabilities would have a material adverse effect on our
long-term results of operations, liquidity or consolidated
financial position.
We recognize that future facts, events and legislation, both
state and/or federal, may alter our estimates of pending
claims and unasserted potential future claims. With our
outside advisors, we will continue to monitor the number
and mix (disease type) of claims filed and paid each period
against the estimates calculated by our asbestos liability
model, the impact of state law changes and the evolving
nature of federal legislative efforts to address asbestos
litigation including the pending federal criminal
investigation into the conduct of at least three plaintiffs’
law firms (all of whom have filed claims against our
Subsidiaries and many other defendants) with respect to
their asbestos claim-filing practices. This federal
investigation, coupled with recent judicial findings in Texas,
calls into question from a medical and legal perspective, the
veracity of a significant number of asbestos claims for all
defendants, including our Subsidiaries. We will continue to
explore all feasible alternatives available to resolve our
asbestos-related exposure in a manner consistent with the
best interests of our stockholders.

The following table illustrates the movement of current and long-term asbestos-related liabilities for the three years ended
May 31, 2006:
Asbestos Liability Movement
(Current and Long-Term)

(In thousands)

Year Ended May 31, 2006
Year Ended May 31, 2005
Year Ended May 31, 2004

Balance at
Beginning
of Period
$101,172
90,607
144,583

Additions to
Asbestos Charge
$380,000
78,000

Deductions
(Primarily
Claims Paid)

Balance at
End of
Period

$59,887
67,435
53,976 (a)

$421,285
101,172
90,607

(a) Represents our portion of total claims paid during the fiscal year ended May 31, 2004 of $63.4 million, net of insurer contributions totaling $9.4 million.
Insurance coverage was depleted in the first quarter of fiscal year 2004.
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In addition, like others in similar businesses, we are involved
in several proceedings relating to environmental matters.
It is our policy to accrue remediation costs when it is
probable that such efforts will be required and the related
costs can be reasonably estimated. These liabilities are
undiscounted. Provision for estimated warranty costs is
recorded at the time of sale and periodically adjusted to
reflect actual experience.
Due to the uncertainty inherent in the loss reserve
estimation process, we are unable to estimate an additional
range of loss in excess of our accruals. It is at least
reasonably possible that actual costs will differ from
estimates, but, based upon information presently available,
such future costs are not expected to have a material
adverse effect on our competitive or financial position or
our ongoing results of operations. However, such costs could
be material to results of operations in a future period.

NOTE I - SEGMENT INFORMATION
We operate a portfolio of businesses that manufacture
and sell a variety of specialty paints, protective coatings
and roofing systems, sealants and adhesives. We manage
our portfolio by organizing our businesses into two
reportable segments – industrial and consumer – based on
the nature of business activities, products and services; the
structure of management; and the structure of information
as presented to our Board of Directors. Within each
reportable segment, individual operating segments or
groups of companies generally address common markets,
utilize similar technologies, and can share manufacturing
or distribution capabilities.

In addition to two reportable segments, there are certain
business activities, referred to as corporate/other, that do
not constitute an operating segment, including corporate
headquarters and related administrative expenses, results of
our captive insurance companies, gains or losses on the sales
of certain assets and other expenses not directly associated
with either reportable operating segment. Related assets
consist primarily of investments, prepaid expenses, deferred
pension assets, and headquarters property and equipment.
These corporate and other assets and expenses reconcile
reportable segment data to total consolidated net sales,
income before income taxes, identifiable assets, capital
expenditures, and depreciation and amortization.
The ten largest consumer segment customers represented
approximately 22%, 25% and 25% of our consolidated
net sales and approximately 55%, 57% and 55% of
consumer net sales for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
Sales to The Home Depot represented 10%, 11% and 11%
of our consolidated net sales and 25%, 26% and 25% of
our consumer segment net sales for 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively.
We reflect income from our joint ventures on the equity
method, and receive royalties from our licensees. Total
income from royalties and joint ventures amounted to
approximately 2% or less of income before income taxes for
each of the periods presented, and is therefore included as
an offset to selling, general and administrative expenses.
Export sales amounted to less than 10% of net sales for each
of the three years presented.
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The following table reflects the results of our reportable operating segments consistent with our management philosophy, and
represents the information we utilize, in conjunction with various strategic, operational and other financial performance
criteria, in evaluating the performance of our portfolio of businesses.
Year Ended May 31

2006

2005

2004

$1,811,590
1,196,748

$1,441,548
1,114,187

$1,272,781
1,034,772

$3,008,338

$2,555,735

$2,307,553

$ 201,230
159,147
(482,852)1

$ 168,578
147,601
(152,451)1

$ 140,706
142,852
(65,942)

$ (122,475)

$ 163,728

$ 217,616

$1,628,038
1,102,687
249,493

$1,278,234
1,144,909
224,332

$1,111,978
1,090,531
142,693

$2,980,218

$2,647,475

$2,345,202

$

39,274
20,800
1,081

$

30,714
24,175
720

$

26,043
23,303
1,907

$

61,155

$

55,609

$

51,253

$

40,536
29,938
3,825

$

33,213
29,264
3,515

$

30,764
29,503
3,010

$

74,299

$

65,992

$

63,277

(In thousands)

Segment Information
Net Sales
Industrial
Consumer
Total

Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes
Industrial
Consumer
Corporate/Other
Total

Identifiable Assets
Industrial
Consumer
Corporate/Other
Total

Capital Expenditures
Industrial
Consumer
Corporate/Other
Total

Depreciation and Amortization
Industrial
Consumer
Corporate/Other
Total

Geographic Information
Net Sales (based on shipping location)
United States

$2,248,259

$2,009,748

$1,841,837

Foreign
Canada
Europe
Other Foreign

222,602
411,548
125,929

192,579
250,585
102,823

172,894
207,557
85,265

Total Foreign

760,079

545,987

465,716

$3,008,338

$2,555,735

$2,307,553

Total

Long-Lived Assets
United States

$1,190,722

$1,158,138

$1,148,773

Foreign
Canada
Europe
Other Foreign

121,137
260,866
18,027

98,880
103,070
18,392

90,538
98,025
16,858

Total Foreign

400,030

220,342

205,421

$1,590,752

$1,378,480

$1,354,194

Total
1
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The asbestos charge, totaling $380.0 million in fiscal 2006 and $78.0 million in fiscal 2005, reflected in Corporate/Other, relates to our
Bondex International, Inc. subsidiary.
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NOTE J - QUARTERLY INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)
The following is a summary of the quarterly results of operations for the years ended May 31, 2006 and 2005:
For Quarter Ended
August 31

November 30

Net Sales
Gross Profit
Net Income (Loss)
Basic Earnings (Loss) Per Share
Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share(a)

$ 747,352
316,119
49,961
$
0.43
$
0.40

$ 739,350
299,259
18,527
$
0.16
$
0.15

$ 612,475
244,340
(2,687)
$
(0.02)
$
(0.02)(b)

$ 909,161
391,850
(142,006)(c)
$
(1.21)
$
(1.21)(b)

Dividends Per Share

$

$

$

$

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

February 28

May 31

2006

0.15

0.16

0.16

0.16

For Quarter Ended
August 31

November 30

Net Sales
Gross Profit
Net Income (Loss)
Basic Earnings (Loss) Per Share
Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share(a)

$ 661,513
294,887
54,486
$
0.47
$
0.44

$ 623,469
270,688
9,112
$
0.08
$
0.08

$ 516,337
211,117
(4,772)
$
(0.04)
$
(0.04)(b)

$ 754,416
329,859
46,206
$
0.39
$
0.37

Dividends Per Share

$

$

$

$

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

February 28

May 31

2005

0.14

0.15

0.15

0.15

(a) Includes dilutive effect of EITF 04-8 as discussed in Note D.
(b) Conversion of the net issuable common share equivalents and the shares related to convertible securities for the three month periods ended
February 28, 2006 and 2005, and May 31, 2006 were not assumed, since the results would have been anti-dilutive.
(c) During the fourth quarter ended May 31, 2006, we increased our reserve for asbestos claims by $335.0 million ($215.6 million after-tax), representing our
estimation of our liability for pending and unasserted claims through May 31, 2016. See Note H to the Consolidated Financial Statements for discussion.

Quarterly earnings per share may not total to the yearly earnings per share due to the weighted average number of shares
outstanding in each quarter.
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QUARTERLY STOCK PRICE AND DIVIDEND INFORMATION
RPM shares of common stock are traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol RPM. The high and low sales prices
for the shares of common stock, and the cash dividends paid on the common stock, for each quarter of the two most recent
fiscal years are set forth in the table below.
Range of Sales Prices and Dividends Paid

Fiscal 2006
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

Fiscal 2005
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

High

Low

Dividends paid
per share

$19.21
$19.15
$19.00
$19.70

$17.47
$16.90
$16.96
$17.40

$0.15
$0.16
$0.16
$0.16

High

Low

Dividends paid
per share

$16.02
$18.99
$19.95
$19.25

$13.85
$15.71
$17.58
$16.51

$0.14
$0.15
$0.15
$0.15

Source: The Wall Street Journal
Cash dividends are payable quarterly, upon authorization of the Board of Directors. Regular payment dates are approximately
the last day of July, October, January and April.
The number of holders of record of RPM common stock as of August 1, 2006 was approximately 33,519.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
The management of RPM International Inc. is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting for the company, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
RPM's internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements and even
when determined to be effective, can only provide reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and
presentation. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may be
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.
Management assessed the effectiveness of RPM's internal control over financial reporting as of May 31, 2006. In making this
assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission in Internal Control-Integrated Framework. The scope of such assessment did not include illbruck Sealant Systems,
which was acquired by the Company in a purchase business combination on August 31, 2005. illbruck Sealant Systems' total
assets and net sales represent approximately 6.9% and 5.0%, respectively, of the accompanying consolidated financial
statement amounts as of and for the year ended May 31, 2006. illbruck Sealant Systems will be included in our assessment of
internal controls during fiscal 2007. Based on this assessment, management concluded that, as of May 31, 2006, RPM's Internal
Control over financial reporting is effective.
The independent registered public accounting firm Ernst & Young LLP, has also audited the Company's assessment of internal
control over financial reporting as of May 31, 2006 and their report thereon is included on page 59 of this report.

Frank C. Sullivan
President and Chief Executive Officer

Robert L. Matejka
Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Controller

July 24, 2006
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS
RPM International Inc. and Subsidiaries
Medina, Ohio
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of RPM International Inc. and Subsidiaries (“RPM” or “the
Company”) as of May 31, 2006 and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the
year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the 2006 consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of RPM at May 31, 2006 and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for
the year then ended in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the effectiveness of RPM’s internal control over financial reporting as of May 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal
Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our
report dated July 24, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Cleveland, Ohio
July 24, 2006
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS
RPM International Inc. and Subsidiaries
Medina, Ohio
We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying “Management’s Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting,” that RPM International Inc. and Subsidiaries (“RPM” or “the Company”) maintained effective internal
control over financial reporting as of May 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). RPM’s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
As indicated in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, management’s
assessment of and conclusion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not include the internal
controls of illbruck Sealant Systems (illbruck), which was acquired by RPM on August 31, 2005, and is included in the 2006
consolidated financial statements of RPM and constituted approximately $204 million of total assets as of May 31, 2006 and
approximately $149 million and $6.1 million of revenue and pre-tax income, respectively, for the year then ended. Our audit of
internal control over financial reporting of RPM as of May 31, 2006 also did not include an evaluation of the internal control
over financial reporting of illbruck.
In our opinion, management’s assessment that RPM maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of May 31,
2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, RPM maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of May 31, 2006, based on the COSO criteria.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the consolidated balance sheet of RPM International Inc. and Subsidiaries as of May 31, 2006 and the related consolidated
statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, and our report dated July 24, 2006,
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Cleveland, Ohio
July 24, 2006

RPM International Inc. and Subsidiaries

59

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS
RPM International Inc. and Subsidiaries
Medina, Ohio
We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of RPM International Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”), as of May 31,
2005, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the two years in the
period ended May 31, 2005. These financial statements are the responsibility of the management of the Company. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as of May 31, 2005 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended
May 31, 2005, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of May 31, 2005, based on the criteria established in
Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
and our report dated July 7, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Cleveland, Ohio
July 7, 2005, except as to Note K of the Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended May 31, 2005, which is as of July 22, 2005.
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STOCKHOLDER INFORMATION
WORLD HEADQUARTERS
RPM International Inc.
2628 Pearl Road
P.O. Box 777
Medina, OH 44258
Telephone: 330-273-5090 or 800-776-4488
Fax: 330-225-8743
Web site: www.rpminc.com
E-mail: info@rpminc.com

STOCK TRANSFER AGENT, REGISTRAR AND
DIVIDEND DISBURSING AGENT
National City Bank maintains RPM’s stockholder records and is
responsible for disbursing dividend checks. Questions concerning
your account, change of address, transfer of ownership, lost
certificates, safekeeping of stock certificates, dividend payments
and other related items should be directed to:

Stockholders are invited to attend RPM’s Annual Meeting,
which will be held at the Holiday Inn Select, 15471 Royalton
Road, Strongsville, Ohio, at 2 p.m. Thursday, October 5, 2006.
Directions can be found on the RPM web site.

National City Bank, Department 5352
Corporate Trust Operations
P.O. Box 92301
Cleveland, OH 44193-0900
Telephone: 800-988-5238 or 800-622-6757
Fax: 216-257-8508
E-mail: shareholder.inquiries@nationalcity.com
www.nationalcitystocktransfer.com

FORM 10-K AND OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION

DIRECT DEPOSIT OF DIVIDENDS

Investors may obtain, at no charge, a copy of the RPM Annual
Report to the Securities and Exchange Commission on Form
10-K, a corporate video and other investor information by
writing to Kathie M. Rogers, Manager of Investor Relations,
at RPM International Inc.

Stockholders of record may have their dividends deposited directly
into their checking or savings account through the Direct Deposit
Program at no charge. For information regarding this service,
please contact National City Bank at the address shown above.

The Form 10-K, other public financial reports and news releases
may also be obtained electronically through our web site,
www.rpminc.com, under “Investor Information.”

INTERNET ACCOUNT ACCESS

ANNUAL MEETING

ANNUAL CERTIFICATIONS
RPM has filed the certifications required by Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to the
10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2006. In addition, on
November 3, 2005, RPM filed the Chief Executive Officer
certification with the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE), pursuant
to the NYSE Listed Company Manual 303A.12, certifying that
the Chief Executive Officer is not aware of any violation by the
company of NYSE corporate governance listing standards.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Copies of the RPM Board of Directors Corporate Governance
Guidelines, as well as the Charters of the committees of the
Board and RPM’s Code of Conduct, are available on the
company’s web site at www.rpminc.com, under “Investor
Information/Corporate Governance.” Copies of these materials
are also available, without charge, upon written request to the
Secretary of RPM.
INSTITUTIONAL INVESTOR AND
SECURITY ANALYST INQUIRIES
Security analysts and investment professionals with questions
regarding RPM should contact Glenn R. Hasman, Vice
President – Finance and Communications, at 330-273-8820 or
at ghasman@rpminc.com.
DIVIDEND PAYMENTS
Common stock cash dividends are payable quarterly, upon
authorization of the Board of Directors. Regular payment dates
are typically the 31st of July, October and January and the 30th
of April. RPM has increased the cash dividend payments to its
stockholders for 32 consecutive years.

Stockholders of record may access their accounts via the Internet
to review account holdings and transaction history through
National City Bank’s StockAccessSM at www.ncstockaccess.com.
Stockholders can download frequently used forms as well from
this web site. For log-in assistance, stockholders should contact
National City Bank at 800-622-6757 or 800-988-5238.
DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN
RPM maintains a Dividend Reinvestment Plan whereby cash
dividends, and up to an additional $5,000 per month, may be
invested in RPM shares at no commission cost. Approximately
87 percent of the stockholders of record participate in the RPM
Dividend Reinvestment Plan. Details of the Plan are available by
contacting RPM, Shareholder Services, at 800-776-4488. Questions
concerning existing Dividend Reinvestment accounts should be
directed to:
National City Bank, Department 5352
Corporate Trust Operations
P.O. Box 94946
Cleveland, OH 44101-4946
Telephone: 800-988-5238 or 800-622-6757
Fax: 216-257-8367
E-mail: shareholder.inquiries@nationalcity.com
INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
Ernst & Young LLP, Cleveland, Ohio (effective fiscal 2006)
Ciulla, Smith & Dale, LLP, Cleveland, Ohio (for fiscals 2005 and 2004)
COUNSEL
Calfee, Halter & Griswold LLP, Cleveland, Ohio
STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING
RPM International Inc. is listed on the New York Stock
Exchange (ticker symbol “RPM”).

RPM International Inc. and Subsidiaries
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operating companies
INDUSTRIAL SEGMENT
A/D Fire Protection Systems Inc.
Scarborough, Ontario
www.adfire.com

Ecoloc N.V.
Brecht, Belgium
www.lock-tile.com

Agpro (N.Z.) Limited
Auckland, New Zealand
www.agpro.co.nz

The Euclid Chemical Company
Cleveland, Ohio
www.euclidchemical.com

Alteco Technik GmbH
Twistringen, Germany
www.alteco-technik.de

Fibergrate Composite
Structures Incorporated
Dallas, Texas
www.fibergrate.com

Carboline Company
St. Louis, Missouri
www.carboline.com
Carboline Italia S.p.A.
Milan, Italy
Chemical Specialties Mfg. Corp.
Baltimore, Maryland
www.chemspecworld.com
Compact Technology GmbH
Traunreut, Germany
www.compacttech.com
Day-Glo Color Corp.
Cleveland, Ohio
www.dayglo.com
Dryvit Systems, Inc.
West Warwick, Rhode Island
www.dryvit.com

Plant locations

National Building Facility Services, Inc.
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
www.nbfsinc.com
Nullifire Limited
Coventry, United Kingdom
www.nullifire.com
Radiant Color N.V.
Houthalen, Belgium
www.radiantcolor.be
Republic Powdered Metals, Inc.
Medina, Ohio
www.rpmrepublic.com

TCI, Inc.
Ellaville, Georgia
www.tcipowder.com
Tremco Barrier Solutions, Inc.
Reynoldsburg, Ohio
www.guaranteeddrybasements.com
Tremco illbruck
International GmbH
Cologne, Germany
www.illbruck.de
Tremco Incorporated
Beachwood, Ohio
www.tremcoinc.com
Weatherproofing
Technologies, Inc.
Beachwood, Ohio
www.tremcoroofing.com
Vandex International AG
Solothurn, Switzerland
www.vandex.com

RPM/Belgium N.V.
Tielt, Belgium
www.rpm-belgium.be

trademarks USED IN THIS ANNUAL REPORT

Argentina

The Netherlands

Carboline®, Chemspec®, Day-Glo®, Dryvit®, EUCO®, Fibergrate®, illbruck®, Kop-Coat®, Perennator®, Plasite®,

Belgium

New Zealand

Stonblend®, Stonhard®, Tamms®, TCI®, Tremco®, Valvtect®, Woolsey®, and Z*Spar® are registered trademarks

Canada

Poland

of the subsidiary corporations of RPM International Inc.

China

South Africa

Colombia

United Arab Emirates

Germany

United Kingdom

Italy

United States

Mexico
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Kop-Coat, Inc.
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania
www.kop-coat.com

Stonhard
Div. of StonCor Group, Inc.
Maple Shade, New Jersey
www.stoncor.com
www.stonhard.com

AD™, A/D™, Festix™, Lock Tile™, NBFS™, Pettit™ and Republic Powdered Metals™ are trademarks of the
subsidiary corporations of RPM International Inc.

CONSUMER SEGMENT
Bondo Corporation
Atlanta, Georgia
www.bondo.com
Chemical Coatings, Inc.
Hickory, North Carolina
DAP Canada
Div. of RPM Canada
Scarborough, Ontario
www.dap.com
DAP Products Inc.
Baltimore, Maryland
www.dap.com

New Parks
Div. of Zinsser Co., Inc.
Somerset, New Jersey
www.newparks.com
RPM Wood Finishes Group, Inc.
Hickory, North Carolina
www.mohawk-finishing.com
www.hbehlen.com
www.starfinishing.com
Rust-Oleum Argentina S.A.
Buenos Aires, Argentina
www.rustoleum.com/international.asp

The Testor Corporation
Rockford, Illinois
www.testors.com
Watco U.K. Limited
Godalming, United Kingdom
www.watco.co.uk
Westfield Coatings Corp.
Westfield, Massachusetts
Wolman Wood Products
Div. of Zinsser Co., Inc.
Somerset, New Jersey
www.wolman.com

Guardian Protection Products, Inc.
Hickory, North Carolina
www.guardianproducts.net

Rust-Oleum
Consumer Brands Canada
Div. of RPM Canada
Toronto, Canada

Mantrose-Haeuser Co., Inc.
Westport, Connecticut
www.mbzgroup.com

Rust-Oleum Corporation
Vernon Hills, Illinois
www.rust-oleum.com

Martin Mathys N.V.
Zelem, Belgium
www.ro-m.com

Rust-Oleum Japan Corporation
Yokohama, Japan
www.roj.co.jp

Modern Masters Inc.
North Hollywood, California
www.modernmastersinc.com

Rust-Oleum Netherlands B.V.
Roosendaal, Netherlands
www.rust-oleum.nl

Plant locations

trademarks USED IN THIS ANNUAL REPORT

Belgium

American Accents®, B-I-N®, Bondex®, Bondo®, DAP®, Epoxy Shield®, Mar-Hyde®, Modern Masters®,

Canada

Mohawk®, Nature Seal®, Okon®, Painter’s Touch®, Perma-White®, Phenoseal®, Plastic Wood®, Rust-Oleum®,

The Netherlands

Side Winder®, Testors®, Tremclad®, Varathane® and Zinsser® are registered trademarks of the subsidiary

United Kingdom

corporations of RPM International Inc.

United States

Zinsser Co., Inc.
Somerset, New Jersey
www.zinsser.com

Guardian™ and Mathys™ are trademarks of the subsidiary corporations of RPM International Inc.
Wolman® is a registered trademark of Arch Wood Protection, Inc. used under license by subsidiary corporations of
RPM International Inc.
Watco® is a registered trademark of Watco Limited used under license by subsidiary corporations of
RPM International Inc.

63

board of directors and officers

Seated, left to right: Joseph P. Viviano, Thomas C. Sullivan, James A. Karman, Dr. Max D. Amstutz.

Standing, left to right: Charles A. Ratner, Edward B. Brandon, Bruce A. Carbonari, Frank C. Sullivan,
Donald K. Miller, William B. Summers, Jr., Dr. Jerry Sue Thornton, William A. Papenbrock.

officers

Board of Directors
Dr. Max D. Amstutz (2) Elected 1995; Chairman,
Finter Bank, Zurich, Switzerland
Edward B. Brandon (1), (3*) Elected 1989; retired
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, National
City Corporation, Cleveland, Ohio (a financial
holding company)

Thomas C. Sullivan (1) Elected 1963;
Chairman of the Board, retired Chief Executive
Officer, RPM International Inc.

Bruce A. Carbonari (4) Elected 2002; President
and Chief Executive Officer, Fortune Brands Home
& Hardware LLC, Cleveland, Ohio (a business unit
of Fortune Brands, Inc. specializing in kitchen,
bath and related products)

William B. Summers, Jr. (2) Appointed
2004; retired Chairman, McDonald
Investments Inc., Cleveland, Ohio (an
investment banking and securities firm and
a subsidiary of KeyCorp)

James A. Karman Elected 1963; retired Vice
Chairman, RPM International Inc.

Dr. Jerry Sue Thornton (1), (3), (4**) Elected
1999; President of Cuyahoga Community
College, Cleveland, Ohio

Donald K. Miller (2*) Elected 1972; Chairman,
Axiom International Investors LLC, Greenwich,
Connecticut (an international equity asset
management firm)
William A. Papenbrock (4), (2**), (3**) Elected
1972; retired Partner and past Vice Chairman
of the Executive Committee, Calfee, Halter &
Griswold LLP, Cleveland, Ohio (attorneys at law)
Charles A. Ratner (1), (3) Elected 2005;
President and Chief Executive Officer of Forest City
Enterprises, Inc., Cleveland, Ohio (a diversified
real estate development corporation)
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Frank C. Sullivan (1*) Elected 1995;
President and Chief Executive Officer,
RPM International Inc.

Joseph P. Viviano (4*) Elected 2001; retired
Vice Chairman, Hershey Foods Corporation,
Hershey, Pennsylvania

(1) Executive Committee
(2) Audit Committee
(3) Compensation Committee
(4) Governance & Nominating Committee
* Chairman of the Committee
** Alternate member of Committee

Frank C. Sullivan
President and Chief Executive Officer
P. Kelly Tompkins
Senior Vice President, General Counsel
and Secretary
Ronald A. Rice
Senior Vice President – Administration
and Assistant Secretary
Lonny R. DiRusso
Vice President – Information Technology
Dennis F. Finn
Vice President – Environmental
and Regulatory Affairs
Glenn R. Hasman
Vice President – Finance
and Communications
Paul G. P. Hoogenboom
Vice President – Operations
and Chief Information Officer
Stephen J. Knoop
Vice President – Corporate Development
Robert L. Matejka
Vice President – Chief Financial Officer
and Controller
Matthew T. Ratajczak
Vice President – Global Taxes
Keith R. Smiley
Vice President, Treasurer
and Assistant Secretary

expect

passion
At RPM, associates bring a passion to the workplace — a passion for growth as
well as a passion for the corporate culture that has brought the company to where
it is today. The cornerstone of that culture is a corporate philosophy described as
“The Value of 168.” Established by RPM’s founder, Frank C. Sullivan (top left),
168 represents the number of hours in a week and is a reminder that each person
has an obligation to make the best use of time given.
Central to Frank C. Sullivan’s approach to RPM’s business was the belief: “Hire
the best people you can find. Create an atmosphere that will keep them. Then let
them do their jobs.” The founder’s belief carried over to the next generation of
management, Thomas C. Sullivan and James A. Karman (top right), who applied it
not only to existing businesses, but also to an acquisition program, where founders
or their descendents continue to run many RPM operating companies today.
Three families exemplify this tradition:
• The Korachs. Lawrence Korach, owner of The Euclid Chemical Company sold
his $10 million concrete additives business to RPM in 1984, at which time his
son, Jeff, became president. When RPM acquired Tremco from BFGoodrich in
1997, Jeff became president of this larger entity and continues to lead the
$1 billion Tremco Group today. Jeff’s brother, Ken, serves as president of Euclid,
while his son, Randy, heads Tremco’s sealants group.
• The Slades. Thomas H. Slade and J. Jackson Slade sold their powdered coatings
business, TCI, Inc. to RPM in 1996. Under Tom and Jack Slades’ continuing
leadership, TCI sales have increased four-fold as part of RPM.
• The Rogers. James W. Rogers formed the high-end, water-based specialty
paint business now known as Modern Masters in 1962, and sold it to his son,
James W. Rogers II in 1996, who in turn sold it to RPM in 2000. Modern Masters
products decorate landmarks such as the Kodak Theatre, home of the Academy
Awards, and Cinderella’s Castle at Disneyland. It has doubled in size since the
acquisition by RPM under the continuing leadership of Jim and his
wife, Monique.

These are but three examples of the heritage and
passion so critical to our success which the people
of RPM bring to their work. That’s the value of 168.

expect

more
Expect continued growth in sales, earnings and dividends.
Expect RPM to deliver this growth the right way.
Expect continued passion and continued reliance on the Value of 168.

Carboline’s Nullifire and A/D FIREFILM fireproofing coatings
protect the David L. Lawrence Convention Center in Pittsburgh.

RPM International Inc.
2628 Pearl Road P.O. Box 777

Varathane offers a full line of polyurethane finishes and wood
stains for furniture, as well as complete floor finishing systems.

Medina, Ohio 44258

Phone

330-273-5090

Fax

330-225-8743

Tremco roofing materials guard the West Point library’s rare
collection of books, manuscripts and other historical archives.

E-mail

info@rpminc.com

web

www.rpminc.com

